SUGARCANE FOR BIOETHANOL: SOIL AND ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES

Alfred E. Hartemink*

Contents

1. Introduction	127
2. Changes in Soil Chemical Properties	128
2.1. Data sources and types	128
2.2. Monitoring over time	129
2.3. Samples from different land-use systems	133
2.4. Soil organic matter dynamics	137
2.5. Leaching, denitrification, and inorganic fertilizers	140
2.6. Nutrient balances	143
3. Changes in Soil Physical Properties	147
3.1. Compaction and aggregate stability	147
3.2. Soil erosion	149
4. Changes in Soil Biological Properties	151
4.1. Macrofauna	152
4.2. Microbes	153
5. Environmental Issues	154
5.1. Herbicides and pesticides	156
5.2. Inorganic fertilizers	158
5.3. Air and water quality	160
6. Discussion and Conclusions	161
6.1. Sugarcane for bioethanol	161
6.2. Effects on the soil	162
6.3. Effects on air and water	164
6.4. Sugarcane yields	166
6.5. The potential for precision farming	169
Acknowledgments	172
References	172

* ISRIC - World Soil Information, 6700 AJ Wageningen, The Netherlands

Advances in Agronomy, Volume 99 ISSN 0065-2113, DOI: 10.1016/S0065-2113(08)00403-3

Abstract

Cultivation of sugarcane for bioethanol is increasing and the area under sugarcane is expanding. Much of the sugar for bioethanol comes from large plantations where it is grown with relatively high inputs. Sugarcane puts a high demands on the soil because of the use of heavy machinery and because large amounts of nutrients are removed with the harvest; biocides and inorganic fertilizers introduce risks of groundwater contamination, eutrophication of surface waters, soil pollution, and acidification. This chapter reviews the effect of commercial sugarcane production on soil chemical, physical, and biological properties using data from the main producing areas. Although variation is considerable, soil organic C decreased in most soils under sugarcane and, also, soil acidification is common as a result of the use of N fertilizers. Increased bulk densities, lower water infiltration rates, and lower aggregate stability occur in mechanized systems. There is some evidence for high leaching losses of fertilizer nutrients as well as herbicides and pesticides; eutrophication of surface waters occurs in high-input systems. Soil erosion is a problem on newly planted land in many parts of the world. Trash or green harvesting overcomes many of the problems. It is concluded that sugarcane cultivation can substantially contribute to the supply of renewable energy, but that improved crop husbandry and precision farming principles are needed to sustain and improve the resource base on which production depends.

1. INTRODUCTION

Bioenergy is energy from biofuels. Biofuel is produced directly or indirectly from biomass such as wood, charcoal, bioethanol, biodiesel, biogas (methane), or biohydrogen (FAO, 2006). It is big business. Demand for biofuels is surging because of the rise in crude oil prices and the global search for renewable energy (Valdes, 2007) and global biofuel production tripled between 2000 and 2007. Currently, the most important biofuel crops are corn, rapeseed, soybean, sugarcane, and oil palm whereas suitable trees for bioenergy production include eucalyptus, poplar, and willow. Biofuel production itself needs fossil energy. Currently, agriculture accounts for about 15% of the global energy demands (fertilizers, transport etc.) but it is estimated that agriculture can produce half to several times the current global energy demand (Smeets *et al.*, 2007).

The environmental impact of the shift toward growing crops for energy is still to be assessed. It is a complex matter with economic interests and other factors interacting on several scales. For example, the cultivation of biofuel crops is competing with food crops and may drive up commodity prices (UNEP, 2007)—over the last few years, world food prices have increased because of market demand for corn, wheat, and soybean. There is further concern that the expansion of biofuel crops takes place at the expense of rainforest and has negative effects on biodiversity and the environment.

Sugarcane as a biofuel crop has much expanded in the last decade, yielding anhydrous ethanol (gasoline additive) and hydrated ethanol by fermentation and distillation of sugarcane juice and molasses (Gunkel *et al.*, 2007; Pessoa *et al.*, 2005). By-products are bagasse and vinasse (stillage or dunder), which is the liquid waste sometimes used for fertigation purposes. Bagasse, a by-product of both sugar and ethanol production, can be burned to generate electricity or be used for the production of biodegradable plastic. It provides most of the fuel for steam and electricity for sugar mills in Australia and Brazil.

One hectare of sugarcane land with a yield of 82 t ha⁻¹ produces about 7000 liter of ethanol. Brazil currently produces about 31% of the global production and it is the largest producer, consumer, and exporter of ethanol for fuel (Andrietta *et al.*, 2007). The industry employs more than one million people (Pessoa *et al.*, 2005). The value of the sugar and ethanol industry reached \$8 billion in 2006, some 17% of Brazil's agricultural output (Valdes, 2007).

Between 1990 and 2005, global average sugarcane yields increased from 61 to 65 Mg ha⁻¹ (http://faostat.fao.org). In 1990, global production was 1050 million Mg and in 2005, production of sugarcane was 1225 million Mg. Much is grown on large plantations but in some countries sugarcane is grown by smallholders, for example in Thailand where there are more than 100,000 farmers growing sugarcane (Sthiannopkao et al., 2006). In Brazil, less than 20% of the sugarcane is produced on small farms; most is grown in the southeast with over 60% of the production in the São Pula district (FAO, 2004). In some countries, sugarcane is the main source of revenue and in Mauritius, sugarcane occupies 90% of the arable land (Ng Kee Kwong et al., 1999). Globally, the area harvested increased by 2.6 million ha in the period 1990-2005; the largest expansion was in India and Brazil. It is expected that the area under sugarcane in Brazil will expand by 3 million ha over the next 5 years whereas the area under sugarcane in China is forecast to rise by 5% or more than 100,000 ha year⁻¹. Brazil has a long tradition of growing sugarcane. In sixteenth century, it was the world's major supplier of sugar (Courtenay, 1980). In 1975, the area under sugarcane in Brazil was 1.9 million ha (de Resende et al., 2006), now there is about 6.2 million ha under sugarcane in Brazil compared to 21 million ha soybean and 14 million ha corn. Other big sugarcane producers are India (4.2 million ha), China (1.4 million ha), Thailand (1.1 million ha), and Pakistan (0.9 million ha) whereas the sugarcane areas in Australia, Cuba, Indonesia, Mexico, and South Africa cover some 0.5–0.6 million ha in each country. In the United States, there are about 170,000 ha in Louisiana and 167,000 ha in Florida. Against the trend, the area under sugarcane in Hawaii has decreased from

about 100,000 ha in the 1930s to 6000 ha in 2007, and also the area under sugarcane in Cuba has been more than halved in the last 15 years.

Traditionally, sugarcane was harvested manually; the senescent leaves (trash) and stalks were removed by people using big knives. Green harvesting was common in Brazil up to 1940s (de Resende et al., 2006), but the large volume of trash makes manual harvesting difficult (Boddey et al., 2003). As labor shortages developed, it became common practice to burn of the dead leaves prior to the harvest (preharvest burning). In the last two decades, preharvest burning has been replaced by mechanical green- or trash harvesting by cutter-chopper-loader harvesters that leave the trash on the field. Most of the sugarcane in Australia and parts of the West Indies is now arvested like this (Graham et al., 2002a). Up to the 1960s, Australian sugarcane was harvested manually but a decade later, following severe labor shortages, nearly all sugarcane was harvested mechanically (Brennan et al., 1997). Currently, about 30% of the Brazilian sugarcane is greenharvested, the rest is harvested manually with preharvest burning. All sugarcane in the United States is mechanically harvested but over 90% of the fields are burned after the green harvesting, to get rid of the trash blanket.

Sugarcane is grown as a ratoon crop: the whole above ground biomass is harvested each year and harvests may continue for a number of years (ratoons). Yields decline with ratooning and, after some years, the land is ploughed and new sugarcane is planted. Much of the world sugarcane is grown with a high degree of mechanization. Also, large amounts of biomass are annually removed with the harvest and herbicides and pesticides are used extensively. Irrigation and large amounts of inorganic fertilizers are often required for high yields. As a consequence, soil properties are likely to change under sugarcane cultivation and the high biocide inputs may affect the environment. Environmental concerns and policies are key factors affecting the future of sugarcane production (Valdes, 2007). There is a also risk that the sugar industry is expanding on marginal lands where the costs or preventing or repairing environmental damage may be high (Arthington et al., 1997). This chapter reviews the main soil and environmental issues under continuous sugarcane cultivation. Most of this work predates the surge of sugarcane production for bioethanol but the results are very relevant for the new situation.

2. CHANGES IN SOIL CHEMICAL PROPERTIES

2.1. Data sources and types

There is fair a body of literature on changes in soil properties under sugarcane cultivation, especially in conference proceedings and books. Increasingly, there have been publications on soil and environmental issues in international scientific journals in English. Changes in soil properties under continuous sugarcane have been investigated in two ways. First, soil properties are monitored over time at the same site and this generates Type I data using chronosequential sampling. There are few such data sets because they require long-term research commitment and detailed recordings of soil management and crop husbandry practices. In the second approach, soils under adjacent different land-use systems are sampled at the same time and it is called biosequential sampling (Tan, 1996) generating Type II data (Sanchez *et al.*, 1985). The assumption is that the soils of the cultivated and uncultivated land are the same and that differences in soil properties can be attributed to differences in land use and management (Hartemink, 2003).

A considerable number of studies have focused on soil chemical and physical changes, and there are only few studies that included soil biological changes (Table 1). Several studies have been conducted in Brazil, Australia, and South Africa; although sugarcane is important and extensively grown in many other countries, fewer studies have been reported in the literature. Well-researched soil types are Fluvents, Inceptisols, Alfisols, and Oxisols; less data are available from Vertisols, although they are extensively used for sugarcane (Ahmad, 1983).

2.2. Monitoring over time

Few studies have monitored soil chemical properties under continuous sugarcane cultivation. In Fiji, Haplic Acrustox were sampled under native vegetation prior to planting sugarcane, and again 6 years later (Masilaca *et al.*, 1985). Exchangeable K decreased, soil P levels were increased in two of the three topsoils, and in one-third of the Oxisols, the topsoil pH had declined from 5.5 to 4.6 (Table 2).

Schroeder *et al.* (1994) measured soil pH over 5 years on sugarcane farms on soils derived from sedimentary rocks in South Africa. These soils had received about 140 kg N ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ and pH declined by 0.4 units. Soil pH in the VMC milling district in the Philippines declined from 5.0 to 4.7 over a 19-year period under sugarcane (Alaban *et al.*, 1990). The decline in pH was accompanied by a decrease in organic C from 14 to 10 g kg⁻¹; also available P and levels of exchangeable cations decreased (Table 3). In Papua New Guinea, Hartemink (1998a,c) compiled soil data at a plantation on Fluvents and Vertisols. Soil chemical data were available from the early 1980s and early 1990s (Table 4). A significant decrease was found in the pH, available P, and CEC of the Fluvents and even in Vertisols, the pH had decreased significantly. A decrease of 0.2–0.4 pH unit was found to a depth of 0.60 m after 10 years of continuous sugarcane (Table 5).

		Soil property	y investigated	l	Data ⁴		
Soil order	Country	Chemical	Physical	Biological	Type I	Type II	References
Alfisols	Australia	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark	Blair, 2000; Bramley <i>et al.</i> , 1996; Pankhurst <i>et al.</i> , 2005a,b; Skjemstad <i>et al.</i> , 1999
	Brazil	\checkmark	\checkmark			\checkmark	Caron et al., 1996; Tominaga et al., 2002
	India	\checkmark				\checkmark	Sundara and Subramanian, 1990
	Swaziland	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark	Henry and Ellis, 1995; Nixon and Simmonds, 2004
Andosols	USA Hawaii	\checkmark		\checkmark		\checkmark	Zou and Bashkin, 1998
Fluvents	Australia	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark	Bramley <i>et al.</i> , 1996; Braunack <i>et al.</i> , 1993; Pankhurst <i>et al.</i> , 2005a,b; Skjemstad <i>et al.</i> , 1999
	Brazil	\checkmark				\checkmark	de Resende et al., 2006
	Fiji		\checkmark			\checkmark	Masilaca et al., 1985
	USA Hawaii		\checkmark			\checkmark	Juang and Uehara, 1971; Trouse and Humbert, 1961
	Iran		\checkmark			\checkmark	Barzegar et al., 2000
	Mexico	\checkmark				\checkmark	de la F et al., 2006
	Papua New Guinea	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark	Hartemink, 1998a,c

 Table 1
 Studies focusing on changes in soil chemical, physical, and biological properties under sugarcane cultivation

Inceptisols	Australia	\checkmark		\checkmark		\checkmark	Bramley et al., 1996; Noble et al., 2003; Pankhurst et al., 2005a,b; Skiamstad et al., 1999
	India	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark	Singh <i>et al.</i> , 2007; Srivastava, 2003; Suman <i>et al.</i> , 2006
	Iran		\checkmark				Barzegar et al., 2000
	South Africa	\checkmark				v V	Dominy et al., 2002
Oxisols	Brazil			\checkmark		\checkmark	Caron <i>et al.</i> , 1996; Ceddia <i>et al.</i> , 1999; Cerri and Andreux, 1990; de Souza <i>et al.</i> , 2005;
							Nunes et al., 2006; Razafimbelo et al., 2006; Silva et al., 2007
	Fiji	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark		Masilaca et al., 1985
	USA Hawaii		\checkmark			\checkmark	Juang and Uehara, 1971; Trouse and Humbert, 1961
	South Africa	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark	Dominy and Haynes, 2002; Dominy <i>et al.</i> , 2002; Haynes <i>et al.</i> , 2003
	Swaziland	./	./	./		./	Henry and Ellis, 1995
Spodosols	Australia	v	v	v		v v	McGarry <i>et al.</i> , 1996a.b
-r	USA	~	v	v		v v	Muchovei <i>et al.</i> , 2000
Ultisols	Australia	v				v v	Pankhurst <i>et al.</i> , 2005a,b
	Brazil		\checkmark	v		v V	Ceddia et al., 1999
	Indonesia	\checkmark	·		\checkmark	•	Sitompul et al., 2000
Vertisols	Mexico		\checkmark		·	\checkmark	Carrillo <i>et al.</i> , 2003; de la F <i>et al.</i> , 2006
		\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark	Hartemink, 1998b,c

(continued)

|--|

		Soil propert	Soil property investigated		Data ^a		
Soil order	Country	Chemical	Physical	Biological	Type I	Type II	References
	Papua New Guinea						
	South Africa	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark	Graham and Haynes, 2005, 2006; Graham <i>et al.</i> , 2002b
	Zimbabwe	\checkmark		\checkmark		\checkmark	Rietz and Haynes, 2003
Not specified	Australia	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark	Garside <i>et al.</i> , 1997; King <i>et al.</i> , 1953; Maclean, 1975; Magarey <i>et al.</i> , 1997; Moody and Aitken, 1995, 1997; Wood, 1985
	India	\checkmark	\checkmark			\checkmark	Srivastava, 1984; Yadav and Singh, 1986
	Mexico	\checkmark				\checkmark	Campos et al., 2007
	Philippines	\checkmark			\checkmark		Alaban <i>et al.</i> , 1990
	South Africa	\checkmark	\checkmark			\checkmark	Schroeder <i>et al.</i> , 1994; Swinford and Boevey, 1984
	Trinidad		\checkmark			\checkmark	Georges et al., 1985

^{*a*} Type I are data whereby soil dynamics are followed with time on the same site; Type II are data whereby different land use was sampled simultaneously [see Hartemink (2006)].

	Sampling		N	С	р	CEC an cations	nd exch (mmol	angeabl _c kg ⁻¹)	e
Site	depth (m)	pН	$(g kg^{-1})$	$(g kg^{-1})$	$(mg kg^{-1})$	CEC	Ca	Mg	К
А	0–12 30–40 70–80	-0.7 -0.8 -0.6	-26.9 +3.8 -0.6	$-2.1 \\ -0.2 \\ 0$	+62.0 +3.0 -1.0	-96.0 + 0.3 - 18.0	-19.9 +2.4 +0.2	-1.3 -0.1 -0.2	-1.8 -0.1 -0.2
В	0–12 30–40 70–80	-0.3 +0.1 -0.1	-14.2 + 1.3 + 0.5	-2.2 + 0.1 - 0.2	-2.0 + 1.0 + 2.0	-38.0 +5.0 +7.0	-26.9 -3.3 -2.9	-10.6 -1.4 -2.2	$-1.1 \\ -0.2 \\ 0$
С	0–12 30–40 70–80	+0.2 +0.1 +0.1	-17.0 +7.8 -0.2	-0.3 + 0.3 0	+64.0 +6.0 -4.0	-3.0 +35.0 +28.0	$-29.6 \\ -1.4 \\ 0$	+1.8 -0.4 -0.3	+0.5 -0.9 -0.2

Table 2 Changes in soil chemical properties at sugarcane plantations in Fiji

Soils were Oxisols and had been under sugarcane for 6 years. Type I data, modified from Masilaca et al. (1985).

Table 3 Changes in soil chemical properties on sugarcane plantations inthe Philippines

Sampling		Organic C	Available P	Exchar (mmol	ngeable ca _c kg ⁻¹)	tions
period	pН	$(g kg^{-1})$	$(mg kg^{-1})$	Ca	Mg	К
1969–1970 1988–1989	5.0 4.7	13.3 9.9	27.3 17.3	85.7 47.4	11.6 11.1	3.7 3.4

Type I data, modified from Alaban et al. (1990).

2.3. Samples from different land-use systems

One of the longest data sets on soil changes under sugarcane cultivation is from the coastal tableland in Alagoas, Brazil (Silva *et al.*, 2007). Soil samples were taken Oxisols in undisturbed forest and compared with soils that had been under sugarcane for 2, 18, and 25 years. Under forest, soil organic C was about 26 g kg⁻¹ in the upper 0.20 m soil layer but had decreased to 19 g C kg⁻¹ after 2 years of sugarcane cultivation. After 18 and 25 years, soil organic C levels were similar to those under forest in both topsoil and subsoil.

In South Africa, an experiment established in 1939 on a Vertisol at the Experimental Station at Mount Edgecombe, has trash-burned and unburned treatments and with or without inorganic fertilizers. Fertilized plots received 140 kg N ha⁻¹, 20 kg P ha⁻¹, and 140 kg K ha⁻¹. Soil organic matter was lowest when crop residues (trash) were removed and

	Fluven	ts ($n = 7$	pairs)	Vertisols $(n = 5 \text{ pairs})$			
Soil chemical properties	1982– 1983	1991– 1994	Difference	1982– 1984	1991– 1994	Difference	
pH H ₂ O (1:2.5 w/v)	6.3	5.9	p < 0.001	6.4	6.0	p < 0.001	
Available P (mg kg ⁻¹)	37.2	29.0	p = 0.04	35.4	24.6	ns	
CEC (mmol _c kg ⁻¹)	412	354	<i>p</i> < 0.001	450	403	ns	
Exchangeable Ca (mmol _c kg ⁻¹)	229	213	ns	269	250	ns	
Exchangeable Mg $(\text{mmol}_c \text{ kg}^{-1})$	100	94	ns	109	95	ns	
Exchangeable K (mmol _c kg ⁻¹)	11.0	9.5	ns	13.0	10.1	ns	

 Table 4
 Soil chemical properties (0-0.15 m) of Fluvents and Vertisols under sugarcane in the 1980s and 1990s

ns = not significant. Type I data, modified from Hartemink (1998c).

highest when residues were retained and inorganic fertilizers were applied. Soil pH decreased from 5.8 under natural grassland to 5.2 under sugarcane with fertilizer applications and also as a result of the trash retention. In soils where there was no trash or inorganic fertilizers, there was no significant decline in pH. Acidification was accompanied by a decrease in the levels of Ca and Mg (Graham and Haynes, 2005; Graham *et al.*, 2002a).

Several studies have been conducted in Australia where Type II data are termed samples from "paired sites" or "paired sampling," sampling "old and new soils," comparing "cropped and undeveloped" land, or comparing "virgin and cultivated" soils (Hartemink, 2006). King et al. (1953) compared soil chemical properties of uncultivated soils with those that had been under sugarcane for 22 years in the Bundaberg area. The cultivated soils contained on average 22 g C kg⁻¹ whereas the C content of virgin soils was 48 g kg⁻¹. In proportion, total N contents of the soils under sugarcane were also less than half of the N contents in virgin soils. Maclean (1975) found significant differences in topsoil pH between sugarcane and uncultivated land and also topsoil P, Ca, and Mg levels were significantly lower in soils under sugarcane. In the subsoil, available P and exchangeable Mg were significantly lower, but below 0.3 m depth, there was no significant difference between soils under sugarcane and uncultivated soils. Wood (1985) sampled cultivated and adjacent uncultivated land at 19 sites in a range of different soil types. The cultivated sites had been cropped with sugarcane for at least 30 years whereas the uncultivated sites were road reserves, cleared

Table 5 Change in pH H₂O with depth based on samples from the same site at different times and from the different land use sampled at the same time

Type I data					Type II data				
Sampling depth (m)	Sample pairs	1986	1996	Difference	Sampling depth (m)	Sample pairs	Natural grassland	Continuous sugarcane ^a	Difference
0-0.15	9	6.2	5.8	p < 0.001	0-0.15	5	6.3	5.8	p = 0.02
0.15-0.30	9	6.2	5.9	p < 0.001	0.15-0.30	5	6.3	6.1	p = 0.02
0.30-0.45	7	6.5	6.1	p = 0.02	0.30-0.50	5	6.6	6.4	p = 0.05
0.45-0.60	7	6.6	6.4	p = 0.01	0.50-0.70	5	6.7	6.6	ns
					0.70-0.90	5	6.9	6.8	ns

^{*a*} Soils were continuously cultivated with sugarcane for at least 10 years ns = not significant. Modified from Hartemink (1998a).

	Sampling		С	р	CEC a cation	and exc s (mmo	changea ol _c kg	able ¹)
Land use	depth (m)	pН	$(g kg^{-1})$	$(mg kg^{-1})$	CEC	Ca	Mg	К
Sugarcane	0-0.10	5.0	7.0	35	37.0	15.2	7.3	2.0
	0.10-0.20	4.9	6.5	26	37.0	15.5	5.1	1.4
	0.20-0.30	4.9	5.6	15	39.0	17.1	5.6	1.1
	0.30-0.40	5.0	4.0	9	41.3	18.7	8.1	1.0
Uncultivated	0-0.10	5.2	15.0	14	56.3	32.8	14.1	2.9
	0.10-0.20	5.2	8.1	8	47.5	26.1	12.3	1.6
	0.20-0.30	5.1	5.9	7	46.8	23.1	12.4	1.3
	0.30-0.40	5.1	4.9	3	51.7	25.0	15.3	1.3

Table 6 Changes in soil chemical properties on sugarcane plantations in North Queensland, Australia

Average data of various soil types. Sugarcane was cultivated for at least 30 years. Type II data, modified from Wood (1985).

land, or forest. A slightly lower pH was found under sugarcane and differences in soil reaction in the 0.20–0.30 m soil horizon were significant (Table 6). Organic C levels in soils under sugarcane were less than half of the levels in uncultivated soils. Exchangeable cations and the CEC were significantly lower in soils under sugarcane but these soils had significantly higher levels of available P due to high application rates of P fertilizers.

Bramley *et al.* (1996) sampled Dystropepts, Ustropepts, Tropaquepts, Natrustalfs, Haplustalfs, and Fluvents that had been under sugarcane for 20 years or more. Soil fertility decline differed between soil orders and depths. Organic C declined in the Fluvents, but no significant changes were found in the other soils. A significant decline in soil pH was found only in Ustropepts. Skjemstad *et al.* (1999) investigated the same soils and found little changes in total soil organic C and in the light fraction (<1.6 Mg m⁻³). Well-established sugarcane sites (20–70 years) had lower soil organic C levels in the subsoils relative to uncultivated soils. No difference was found between Ustropepts, Natrustalfs, and Fluvents, and it appeared that sugarcane production did not lead to an overall decline in total organic C in the soil profile confirming the observations of Bramley *et al.* (1996). However, Noble *et al.* (2003) found that soil organic C declined under continuous sugarcane cultivation and levels were 13 g C kg⁻¹ in 1994 and 8 g C kg⁻¹ in 2000. The pH under continuous sugarcane was 6.6 in 1994 and 6.0 in 2000.

Caron *et al.* (1996) sampled a Typic Haplorthox and Typic Paleudalf under primary forest and 20-year-old sugarcane near São Paulo, Brazil. Topsoil organic C levels were 34 g kg⁻¹ in the Alfisol under forest and 16 g C kg⁻¹ soil under sugarcane. In Oxisols under forest, there was 45 g C kg⁻¹ compared with 30 g C kg⁻¹ under sugarcane; the difference between forest and sugarcane extended to 1.2 m in the Oxisol and up to 0.9 m in the Alfisol. The decrease in soil organic C was accompanied by a significant decrease in soil pH in both soil orders but the drop in pH was larger in Alfisols (Caron *et al.*, 1996).

In Mexico, Vertisols and Fluvents under different periods of sugarcane were sampled (de la F *et al.*, 2006): a significant decline in N, P, and organic matter levels was found after 30 years of sugarcane cultivation but pH changes were less consistent. Henry and Ellis (1995) investigated changes in Oxisols and Natraqualfs under sugarcane in Swaziland. The Oxisol had been under sugarcane for 18 years and the Alfisols had been under paddy rice for 25 years and were 15 years under sugarcane and uncultivated soils was only 2 g C kg⁻¹. Exchangeable K in soils under sugarcane was about half the values found in uncultivated soils in both Oxisols and Alfisols. Levels of available P were much higher in the soils under sugarcane. Changes in soil chemical properties were accompanied by a degradation of soil physical and biological properties.

Both the Type I and Type II studies showed considerable changes in soil fertility under continuous sugarcane. In most soils, the pH dropped, often accompanied by a decrease in exchangeable cations. Soil acidification has been reported from sugarcane areas in Australia (Moody and Aitken, 1995), Brazil (Silva et al., 2007), Hawaii (Humbert, 1959), Papua New Guinea (Hartemink, 1998a), Puerto Rico (Abruña-Rodriguez and Vicente-Chandler, 1967), and Florida (Coale, 1993). An important cause of soil acidification is the application of N fertilizers. Because these contain N in the ammonium form, nitrification results in acidification. The soils under sugarcane in Fiji (Table 2) had acidified following the applications of sulfate of ammonia at rates averaging 150 kg N ha⁻¹ year⁻¹. In Papua New Guinea (Tables 3 and 4), most of the N fertilizers in the mid-1990s were applied as sulfate of ammonia; previously urea was applied that is less acidifying but most of the N is lost when urea is applied on the trash blanket. The levels of P increased in many soils, also as a result of fertilizer applications and relatively low removal rates (see also Section 5.2). A decline in organic matter has been reported from several sugarcane areas; the dynamics of soil organic matter are discussed below. No study has been found that looked at changes in soil micronutrients under sugarcane.

2.4. Soil organic matter dynamics

Soil organic matter is key for the productive capacity of many tropical soils (Woomer *et al.*, 1994). As shown in the previous sections, soil organic matter has declined in many soils under sugarcane but some studies found little change in soil organic matter levels under continuous sugarcane. Because there are different systems of cultivation (trash harvesting,

preharvest burning) and sugarcane is grown in different agroecologies that largely affect the soil organic matter status, it is hard to generalize.

In Brazil, Cerri and Andreux (1990) measured different C fractions of a Typic Haplorthox under forest and at a sugarcane plantation in São Paula State. The natural abundance of the isotope ¹³C was used to identify organic C sources and to determine the changes in soil organic matter when forest is cleared and sugarcane planted. The approach depends on the difference in the natural ¹³C abundance between plants having different photosynthetic pathways: mainly C3 (forest) and C4 (sugarcane). The ¹³C/¹²C ratio of C3 plants is lower than that of C4 plants. Table 7 presents the C content in soils under forest and sugarcane. Total C levels after 50 years of sugarcane cultivation, more than 80% of the soil organic C still originated from the forest but after 50 years, the forest C formed 55% of the total C contents in the topsoil. The rate of increase in C originating from sugarcane was slower than the decrease in C that had originated from the forest.

The data in Table 7 were used in a regression model for soil organic matter dynamics (van Noordwijk *et al.*, 1997). The decline in forest-derived organic matter continued during the 50 years spanned by the investigation; the apparent equilibrium value of total soil organic C is based on a balance between gradual build-up of sugarcane-derived organic matter, and decay of forest-based organic matter. For comparison, soil from pastures showed a larger stable C pool, a more rapid decline of labile forest C but also a much faster accumulation of labile crop C, which returned the total soil organic C levels to that of the forest before deforestation after about 7 years (van Noordwijk *et al.*, 1997). Some of the differences between the pasture and sugarcane patterns can be explained by the lower annual input of C under sugarcane (<1.0 Mg C ha⁻¹) compared with the pasture (7.5 Mg C ha⁻¹) and differences in soil mineralogy and climate (Cerri and Andreux, 1990). Soil texture plays a role; 12 years after conversion from forest to sugarcane,

		Sugarcane	
	Forest	Soils under 12 years of sugarcane	Soils under 50 years of sugarcane
Total C	71.9	44.6	38.5
Stable C originating from the forest	71.9	36.0	21.0
C originating from the sugarcane		8.6	17.3

Table 7Carbon content of soils under forest and after 12 and 50 years of sugarcanecultivation (Mg ha^{-1} , o-o.20 m depth)

Type II data, modified from Cerri and Andreux (1990).

the majority of the C derived from sugarcane is found in the coarse sand fraction. About 90% of the C in the clay fraction still has the forest signature after 12 years, whereas after 50 years, 70% of the forest-derived C persisted in the clay fraction (Vitorello *et al.*, 1989). These data illustrate the importance of clay–organic matter linkages as a C-protection mechanism (Dominy *et al.*, 2002; van Noordwijk *et al.*, 1997).

Another study in Brazil found that soil organic C levels under continuous sugarcane reached the same levels as soils under forest. Soil organic C under forest was about 26 g kg⁻¹ in the soils under forest but had decreased to 19 g C kg⁻¹ in soils that were cultivated with sugarcane for 2 years. After 18 and 25 years of sugarcane cultivation, levels were similar to those under forest in both topsoil and subsoil. The increase in soil organic C under continuous sugarcane was explained by the input of filter cake and vinasse (Silva *et al.*, 2007). Also Graham *et al.* (2002b) found similar soil organic C levels in natural grassland compared with soils that had been under sugarcane cultivation for 59 years. Soil organic C levels under sugarcane were even higher when the sugarcane was fertilized.

Not only is organic matter decline affected by clay content and soil texture, it is also different for different fractions. On a Grossarenic Kandiudult in Sumatra, Indonesia, Sitompul *et al.* (2000) modeled soil organic matter dynamics under sugarcane using CENTURY. Rates of change differed between particle size fractions. The sum of light, intermediate, and heavy fractions of macro-organic matter (150 μ m-2 mm) showed a decline of about 250 to about 100 g C m⁻² after 10 years of sugarcane cultivation.

In South Africa, Graham and Haynes (2006) investigated soil organic matter and the microbial community under burned and trash-harvested sugarcane on Vertisols. Soil organic C was lower under burned sugarcane but K_2SO_4 -extractable C, light fraction C, microbial biomass C, and basal respiration were much lower; changes occurred to a depth up to 0.30 m. Much organic matter is returned to the soil with trash harvesting but in burned sugarcane systems, the main organic return is through root turnover (rhizodeposition). The authors concluded that the effects of agricultural practice on organic matter status are more obvious and first noted when labile C fractions microbial activity is measured. In these Vertisols, soil organic C levels were similar under natural grassland and sugarcane (Graham *et al.*, 2002b).

In Inceptisols and Oxisols in the South African province of KwaZulu-Natal, the organic C content was $40-50 \text{ g C kg}^{-1}$ under natural vegetation but it declined exponentially with increasing years under sugarcane (Dominy *et al.*, 2002). After 20–30 years of sugarcane, organic C content had declined to about 33 g kg⁻¹ in the Oxisol and to 17 g kg⁻¹ in the Inceptisol. In the Inceptisol, it reached a new equilibrium level after about 30-40 years. The higher organic matter content in the Oxisol was attributed to clay protection of organic matter. The natural ¹³C abundance

in Inceptisols was used to calculate the loss of forest-derived, native soil C and the input of sugarcane-derived C. Sugarcane-derived organic C increased over time until it accounted for about 61% of organic C in the surface 10 cm in soils that had been under sugarcane for more than 50 years (Dominy *et al.*, 2002).

Alfisols under sugarcane in Australia contained about 11 g C kg^{-1} whereas under natural grassland, C levels were 34 g kg^{-1} . Levels of soil organic C were much higher under trash-harvesting system than when preharvest burning was practiced, but the organic C levels of the soils under grass were not reached (Blair, 2000).

In most studies on soil organic matter dynamics under sugarcane, it was found that the rates of soil organic matter decline differed for different soils (clay protection), soil organic matter fractions, agroecologies (climate), and management (e.g., trash-harvesting, vinasse applications). In most soils, levels decreased in the first years of cultivation and then slowly increased again. The increase is higher with higher levels of organic inputs (trash, vinasse). Rarely, the original soil organic matter levels are reached, typically, the levels settle at 60% of the soil organic matter levels in soils under natural vegetation.

2.5. Leaching, denitrification, and inorganic fertilizers

Many studies have investigated the effects of inorganic fertilizer on sugarcane yield, sugar and leaf nutrient content, and the overall response to inorganic fertilizers. The Diagnosis and Recommendation Integrated System, originally developed for rubber, has been adapted to sugarcane in Brazil, United States, and South Africa (El Wali and Gascho, 1984; Reis and Monnerat, 2002; Sumner and Beaufils, 1975). The effects of lime have been well documented. This is important because sugarcane is prone to acidify the soil when ammonia-fertilizers are used. The effects of organic amendments have been studied (e.g., Braunbeck et al., 1999; Ng Kee Kwong and Deville, 1988; Orlando Filho et al., 1991; Sutton et al., 1996) and several studies have followed the fate of applied nutrients. Most have focused on N because sugarcane is a large N consumer (Malavolta, 1994); less attention is given to K as sugarcane is often grown on soils in which the K status may be sufficient for sugarcane (de Geus, 1973). There has been little soil processoriented research on P, possibly because sugarcane has a low P requirement (Malavolta, 1994).

2.5.1. Leaching

Comprehensive N work has been conducted at the Sugar Industry Research Institute in Reduit, Mauritius on Ustic Eutropepts (annual rainfall 1550 mm) and Dystropeptic Gibbsiorthox (annual rainfall 3700 mm). In a study, ¹⁵N-labeled was given as $(NH_4)_2SO_2$ or as NaNO₃ at the rate of

100 kg N ha⁻¹ (Ng Kee Kwong and Deville, 1984, 1987) The amount of N leached depended more on the duration and intensity of drying preceding rainfall than on the leachate volume. More N was leached from soils with higher organic matter content. Leaching was greater at the drier site but cumulative N loss over one year was similar for both soils; it appears that frequent, shorter, and less-intense drying and wetting cycles are as effective in mobilizing soil N as less frequent but longer and more-intense drying. The Oxisols were able to retain NO₃ by absorption, which reduced N leaching, but K and Ca were more readily leached than N. It was concluded that losses of cations might be more acute than the need for measures to minimize N leaching. Also in Australia, leaching losses were low under sugarcane (Chapman et al., 1994; Wei-Ping et al., 1993). A study on Grossarenic Paleudults in Florida (Unites States) showed that leaching losses varied from 6% to 24% of applied N depending on fertilizer type and irrigation level (El Wali et al., 1980). Leaching of the applied N was mainly as NO₃ but when irrigation took place before, the N hydrolyzed from urea was completely nitrified, there was substantial leaching in the NH₄ form. Losses were lowest with sulfur-coated urea and increased with irrigation. Amounts of N loss ranged from 17% to 24% of the applied N, and upto 15% of the applied N was not accounted for by the plant, leachate, or soil. A study on Vertic Haplaquepts in Louisiana (United States) showed that N losses by leaching could be substantial (Southwick et al., 1995). Average NO₃ leaching ranged from 15% to 60% depending on the leaching period and season.

de Oliveira *et al.* (2002) measured leaching of N and cations under sugarcane using lysimeters in São Paulo, Brazil. Inorganic N was applied but loss of N by leaching from the fertilizer (¹⁵N) was not detected despite the heavy rainfall and irrigation. There were N losses but these originated from crop residues and the amount of N leached in 11 months was less than 5 kg N ha⁻¹. However, there were high rates of leaching for K, Ca, and Mg. Nitrogen losses under sugarcane may be low but cation losses may be considerable, which is a problem in acid soils. Moreover, not all N that is leached is lost. In very acid subsoils with an anion exchange capacity, NO₃ is adsorbed but it may be below the rooting zone of the crop (Dynia, 2000; Rasiah *et al.*, 2003). The maximum rooting depth of sugarcane is about 2 m, although there are considerable genotypic variations (Smith *et al.*, 2005). When the exchange capacity below the rooting zone is saturated, there may be leaching of NO₃ to the groundwater.

2.5.2. Gaseous losses

Many studies have shown that an appreciable fraction of fertilizer N invariably remains unaccounted (Allison, 1966). It is generally assumed that denitrification and volatilization of NH_3 are the major components of this unaccounted N. Weier *et al.* (1996) studied the potential for biological denitrification of fertilizer N in soils under sugarcane. In field studies on Alfisols and Ultisols, denitrification ranged from 1% to 20% of the applied N but differences between soil orders were considerable. In a glasshouse study, denitrification losses ranged from 13% to 39% of the N applied and the majority of the gaseous N loss occurred as N₂. It was concluded that denitrification is an important cause of fertilizer N loss from fine-textured soils, with N₂O the gaseous N product when soil NO₃ concentrations are high (Weier *et al.*, 1996).

Fertilizer N uptake and N-use efficiency was investigated in Mauritius using ¹⁵N-labeled (NH₄)₂SO₂ at a rate of 100 kg N ha⁻¹. Approximately 10–20 kg ha⁻¹ of the labeled-N was lost from the green tops (i.e., the aerial parts of the sugarcane). These were gaseous N losses from the plant itself. Fertilizer N use efficiency derived from recovered N at harvest grossly underestimates the ability of sugarcane to use fertilizer N. The study showed that the uptake of fertilizer N varied from 20% to 40% whereas it was 13– 18% when the measurements were made at the harvest. Denitrification and volatilization were grossly overestimated because losses of N from the aerial parts constitute a significant proportion of the unaccounted N (Ng Kee Kwong and Deville, 1994).

Most studies in Australia have focused on losses of N fertilizer applied on trash-harvested fields. Such losses can be high under relatively dry conditions when urea is applied. Sugarcane, like all plants, contains the enzyme urease that in trash breaks down urea into CO_2 and NH₃. The trash blanket cannot bind this NH₃ (Ralph, 1992) and volatilization of NH₃ can be one-third of the applied N. Wei-Ping *et al.* (1993) found losses of 20–30% of the applied N within 30 days after applications. In heavy rainfall areas, urea was washed from the trash and losses were 17% of the applied N, whereas ammonia losses from ammonia-sulfate were less than 2% of the applied N (Freney *et al.*, 1992). Similar losses were reported from Brazil (Gava *et al.*, 2003).

Chapman *et al.* (1994) investigated the efficiency of fertilizer N uptake using urea, labeled with ¹⁵N, which was either broadcast or buried in different trash management systems. The proportion of the applied fertilizer N recovered was 33% when the urea was buried and 18% when the urea was broadcast. It was suspected that denitrification accounted for the majority of the fertilizer-N loss (Chapman *et al.*, 1994). Drilling urea into the soil decreased the N losses although total losses remained relatively high (Prasertsak *et al.*, 2002). In the Australian research, gaseous N losses from the plant itself were not taken into account. Fertilizer N recovery was about the same as was found in Mauritius (20–40%). Low N-recovery values were also found sugarcane grown on Vertisols in Guadeloupe that is attributed to the higher rates of volatilization on these soils (Courtaillac *et al.*, 1998).

Leaching and denitrification are difficult to measure because of the inherent variability in the governing factors and the time needed for accurate measurements. Modeling contributes to our understanding of these processes and studies have used APSIM-SWIM to estimate N losses under sugarcane in Australia (Stewart *et al.*, 2006). Modeled N-fluxes through 1.5 m soil depth showed that of the 30 kg N ha⁻¹, about 27 kg N ha⁻¹ was taken up by the crop so only 3 kg N ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ was leached. In another model study, it was shown that NO₃ leaching was lower under rainfed conditions compared to irrigated conditions. Nitrogen leaching was strongly correlated with rainfall when application rates exceeded 200 kg N ha⁻¹; it was concluded that careful N management is needed under rainfed conditions (Thorburn *et al.*, 2005). Modeling studies may play an increasing role in the quantification of leaching and gaseous losses, both for experimental work and for decision making (Stewart *et al.*, 2006).

Low fertilizer-N recovery has been reported from many sugarcane areas. As N rarely accumulates in the soil, leaching and gaseous losses must be considerable with high rates of N applications. Leaching depends on the weather (rainfall), soil physical attributes (wetting, drying), the age of the sugarcane, as well as the type, quantity, timing, and placement of the fertilizer (Prasertsak *et al.*, 2002). The few detailed studies that have been conducted show that leaching losses are generally low despite the low N recovery of inorganic fertilizers. There is also evidence that gaseous losses are generally high from N fertilizers applied on trash-harvested fields and under poorly drained conditions. Related environmental issues are discussed in Section 6.2.

2.6. Nutrient balances

Nutrient balances can be used to estimate likely changes in soil chemical properties. In essence, they mimic an accounting procedure that compares inputs (e.g., inorganic fertilizers, manure) to nutrient outputs (e.g., crop removal, leaching) over a given time span. Nutrient balances may give insight into the processes that regulate nutrient cycling and help to formulate system management decisions and direct research (Hartemink, 2005a; Robertson, 1982).

Nutrient balance studies have been influential—agronomically and politically—in many tropical regions, but most suffer from methodological problems. The best quantified budget line is often nutrient removal by the crop. It is usually calculated as yield multiplied by nutrient uptake or removal data but nutrient uptake data are variable. For example, Hartemink (1997) showed that, based on 11 literature sources, nutrient removal of *Agava sisalana* varied from 27 to 33 kg N ha⁻¹, 5 to 7 kg P ha⁻¹, and 59 to 69 kg K ha⁻¹ per Mg of produce. The variation may be attributed to differences in sampling techniques, sampling period, inherent soil conditions, fertilizer applications, and analytical methods. Faerge and Magid (2004)

	Brazil	Ecuador	Dominican Republic	Peru	Trinidad	Range of values
Inputs						
N fixation	15-25	nd	nd	nd	nd	nd
Inorganic fertilizer	60-100	150	200	200	80	60–200
Manure	5	5-10	5-10	5-10	5-10	5-10
Deposition	5	nd	5-10	nd	nd	5-10
Total	100	nd	nd	282	nd	nd
Outputs						
Harvest	50-60	50-60	50-60	150	50-60	50-150
NH ₃ - volatilization	nd	nd	nd	nd	nd	nd
Leaching	nd	nd	nd	20	nd	nd
Burning	nd	nd	nd	45	nd	30
Forage	nd	nd	nd	20	nd	nd
Total	100	100	100	230	100	100-230
Within system						
Fertilizer recovery (%)	50	50	50	70	50	50-70

Table 8 Partial N-balance (kg ha⁻¹ year⁻¹) for sugarcane cropping systems in Latin America and the Caribbean start Brazil, Ecuador,Peru etc at the same height as Dominician

nd = no data. Modified from Ruschel *et al.* (1982).

concluded that losses are often overestimated and that modeled losses are rarely compared with direct measurements. Also, there are differences between years depending on the weather and other factors. As a result there is large interannual variation in nutrient balances (Sheldrick *et al.*, 2003)

A work group on sugarcane summarized the problems with nutrient balances in sugarcane as follows: A general N balance for this crop is difficult to construct because of widely differing agronomic practices and growing conditions and also a lack of knowledge of certain processes (Ruschel and Vose, 1982). The agronomic variation includes a growing period that ranges from 9 to 22 months, yields that range from 30 to 150 Mg ha⁻¹, preharvest burning or trash harvesting, and different inorganic fertilizer regimes and recycling practices for organic wastes. Partial N-balances for the sugarcane in some Latin American and Caribbean countries are presented in Table 8. A wide range of values was found for the sugarcane systems in the different countries. Inorganic fertilizer applications ranged from 60 to 200 kg N ha⁻¹ year⁻¹. Fertilizer recovery under sugarcane in Latin America is about 50%, which implies that the N balances, shown in Table 8, are negative in most countries. The fertilizer N recovery rate has substantial influence on the

overall balance. In Mauritius, a fertilizer N recovery of 20–40% was found (Ng Kee Kwong and Deville, 1994), in Australia 20–50% (Vallis *et al.*, 1996; Weier, 1994), and in India 16–45% (Singh *et al.*, 2007). Higher recovery is reported in Brazil (Basanta *et al.*, 2003). In the Peruvian case in Table 8, total N input after correcting for the fertilizer recovery is 182 kg N ha⁻¹ whereas total output is estimated to be 230 kg N ha⁻¹. Losses of N by burning were estimated to be 45 kg N ha⁻¹ and, in another study in Peru, it was shown that burning losses could account for 30% of the N output in a sugarcane system (Valdivia, 1982).

Denitrification and losses by erosion were not considered in the balances of Table 8 because the data were not available. In Louisiana (United States), erosion losses under sugarcane were about 17 Mg soil ha^{-1} and annual nutrient losses by erosion were 18 kg N, 14 kg P, and 104 kg K ha^{-1} (Bengtson *et al.*, 1998). No data are available on nutrient losses with soil erosion from other sugarcane areas, but considerable amounts of nutrients can also be lost with soil erosion (Hartemink, 2006).

A partial N balance for sugarcane on an Entisol in the São Paulo region of Brazil showed that N added in vinasse and urea was insufficient to maintain the N levels in the 0.20 m topsoil, but in the 0–0.60 m soil layer, total N levels increased. The input by biological nitrogen fixation (BNF) caused a positive N balance (de Resende *et al.*, 2006). An estimate of the major nutrient inputs and outputs at a sugarcane plantation in Papua New Guinea (Hartemink, 2003) used yield data from 1991 to 1995. The N balance was positive but the P and K balance was negative. The N recovery was not measured but if a 50% recovery assumed the N balance was also negative. In Coimbatore, India, a partial nutrient balance for sugarcane was calculated for sugarcane grown on Alfisols (Sundara and Subramanian, 1990). Data for the plant cane and first ratoon (2 years) are given in Table 9. More N and slightly more P was applied with the inorganic fertilizers than removed with the crop. The difference between K applied and removed was 137 kg ha⁻¹. Despite the positive balance of N

	Balance (kg ha	a^{-1} year ⁻¹)		Soil changes (0–0.20 m) (kg ha^{-1})			
	Applied with inorganic fertilizer	Removed at harvest	Difference	Level at the beginning	Content after two years	Difference	
N P K	225 33 100	107 29 237	+118 +4 -137	182 35 521	157 32 341	-25 -3 -180	

 Table 9
 NPK balance and soil changes in a sugarcane field at Coimbatore, India

Calculated from Sundara and Subramanian (1990).

and P, the soil levels of N and P declined because not all outputs were measured and much of the applied N may have been lost. If a 50% recovery is assumed, the balance becomes negative and explains the loss of N from the topsoil.

There has been no study quantifying all nutrient inputs and outputs in sugarcane cultivation systems, and partial nutrient balances should be interpretated with caution (Hartemink, 2006). Although the removal of nutrients with the crop is fairly well-quantified (de Geus, 1973; Malavolta, 1994; Srivastava, 1992), other outputs and inputs of the nutrient balance have not been studied in sufficient detail, with the exception of BNF.

2.6.1. Biological nitrogen fixation

In the late 1950s, it was discovered that N₂-fixing bacteria of the genus *Beijerinckia* were present in the rhizosphere of sugarcane (Döbereiner, 1961). Most of the work on BNF in the sugarcane rhizosphere has been conducted in Brazil. Evidence for substantial inputs via N₂ fixation by sugarcane has been provided by isotope-dilution measurements; these are consistent with observations in the field (Chalk, 1991). In Brazil, an estimate of BNF holds that about 17% of total plant N is fixed by the sugarcane, which is equivalent to 17 kg ha⁻¹ at yields of 70 Mg ha⁻¹ (Ruschel and Vose, 1982). More recent results of ¹⁵N dilution/N balance studies showed that some sugarcane varieties can obtain larger contributions ranging from 60% to 80% of total plant N, equivalent to over 200 kg N ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ (Boddey *et al.*, 1991; de Oliveira *et al.*, 2006; Medeiros *et al.*, 2006). N-fixation is high for most Brazilian cultivars as they have been systematically bred for high yields with low N inputs (Boddey *et al.*, 1995).

Depending on the yield, 100-200 kg N ha⁻¹ is removed with the harvest. Annual N application rates on sugarcane in Brazil are on average 50 kg N ha⁻¹ (FAO, 2004), If over 200 kg N ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ is fixed biologically, it can be assumed that N levels in the soils under sugarcane are maintained (Boddey et al., 2003; Lima et al., 1987). However, ecosystems with high rates of N fixation often have high loss rates through leaching or possibly denitrification. The relationship is not fully understood but is related to the plant energy requirements when switching from uptake of atmospheric N to soil mineral N (Pastor and Binkley, 1998). It should be noted that the benefits of high N fixation in sugarcane may only be recorded in soils low in mineral N, when no or little inorganic N fertilizers are applied and when the soil P and Mo status is adequate. Cultivar differences in the potential for BNF are considerable (Urquiaga et al., 1992) and water supply needs to be abundant for high fixation rates (Boddey et al., 2003). These effects have been documented in Brazil, India, and Mexico (de Oliveira et al., 2006; Medeiros et al., 2006).

3. CHANGES IN SOIL PHYSICAL PROPERTIES

At most commercial sugarcane plantations, heavy machinery is used for land preparation, harvesting, and applications of fertilizers, herbicides, and pesticides. The machinery affects soil physical properties like aeration and porosity and the variation in soil physical properties, which is naturally already large within a field (Cassel and Lal, 1992), may be enhanced. In areas where most field work is done manually like in Mexico, soil physical changes are minimal under continuous sugarcane (Carrillo *et al.*, 2003; de la F *et al.*, 2006). This chapter discusses the effects of mechanized sugarcane cultivation on soil bulk density, aggregate stability, water intake (infiltration), and runoff and soil erosion.

3.1. Compaction and aggregate stability

Usually, sugarcane is grown in rows on low ridges (intrarows) with tractors and harvesters passing through the interrow. On Spodosols in Australia, McGarry et al. (1996a) found a topsoil bulk density of 1.55 Mg m⁻³ in the intrarows as compared to 1.85 Mg m⁻³ in the interrow. An adjoining uncultivated site had a topsoil bulk density of 1.40 Mg m⁻³. Maclean (1975) and Wood (1985) reported significant increases in bulk density of 0.15-0.18 Mg m⁻³ in the topsoil compared with uncultivated land; several other reports have confirmed compaction under mechanized harvesting in Australia (Braunack, 2004; Braunack and McGarry, 2006). In South Africa, Dominy and Haynes (2002) sampled Oxisols that had been cultivated for over 30 years with sugarcane and compared these to soils under native grassland. The topsoil bulk density was 1.17 Mg m^{-3} under grassland but had increased to 1.37 Mg m^{-3} under sugarcane. Below 0.10 m, there was little difference in the bulk densities of these soils and the increased bulk densities and lower water stable aggregates have negative effects on the growth and yield sugarcane. They also found that bulk density is generally higher in soils with burned sugarcane compared with soils under trashharvested sugarcane (Graham and Haynes, 2006). Also in Brazil where much of the sugarcane is burned before harvesting, it was found that the topsoils of Oxisols after 6 years of cultivation had an increased bulk density (Ceddia et al., 1999; Silva et al., 2007).

Absolute and relative increases in soil bulk density are different for different soils. In Papua New Guinea, bulk densities under natural grassland and within the sugarcane rows were similar for all depths of both Fluvents and Vertisols (Table 10). The bulk densities in the interrow were significantly higher and roots were absent. The absolute increase in the topsoil bulk density of the interrow as compared to natural grassland was 0.22 Mg m⁻³

Sampling depth (m)	Sugarcane			Natural grassland		
	Fluvents	Vertisols	Difference	Fluvents	Vertisols	Difference
0-0.15 0.15-0.30 0.30-0.50	1.19 1.28 1.37	1.09 1.15 1.18	p < 0.05 p < 0.01 p < 0.001	1.07 1.17 1.26	1.00 1.02 1.12	ns p < 0.05 p < 0.05

Table 10 Difference in bulk density between Fluvents and Vertisols under sugarcane and natural grassland for three depths

ns = not significant. Data from Hartemink (1998c).

(+21%) in the Fluvents and 0.18 Mg m⁻³ (+18%) in the Vertisols. In Fluvents, the bulk density of the interrow increased to 0.50 m soil depth.

Soil compaction under sugarcane has been reported worldwide, including India (Rao and Narasimham, 1988; Srivastava, 1984), South Africa (Swinford and Boevey, 1984), Swaziland (Nixon and Simmonds, 2004), Mexico (Campos et al., 2007; Vera et al., 2003), Iran (Barzegar et al., 2000), Brazil (Souza et al., 2004), and Fiji (Masilaca et al., 1985). It is a common problem (Yates, 1978) and it is likely to increase with higher rates of mechanization. Bulk density is higher in ratoons compared with soils that have just been planted. The fraction of water stable aggregates declines with increasing age of the sugarcane (Srivastava, 2003) and declines in soils where the sugarcane is burned before harvesting (Blair, 2000). Soil compaction may occur at once during field operations at moist soil conditions or may be cumulative during the years of cropping. Trouse and Humbert (1961) have shown that the topsoil bulk density of an Oxisol in Hawaii increased from 1.25 Mg m^{-3} after 10 tractor passes to 1.43 Mg m^{-3} after 20 passes, and to 1.53 Mg m^{-3} after 50 tractor passes. Much depends on the ground pressure exerted by the tires of the field equipment and the soil moisture content at the time of field operations. Georges et al. (1985) found that water content was the most important factor affecting soil compaction and that equipment type had only a significant effect at high soil moisture contents. Similar findings were reported by Braunack et al. (1993) who found differences in bulk density between conventional tires and so-called high flotation equipment. In general, bulk densities were 0.1-0.3 Mg m⁻³ higher under conventional equipment but conditions under which the experiments were conducted were fairly dry (Braunack et al., 1993).

Compaction commonly results in an increase in soil strength. In South Africa, Swinford and Boevey (1984) found a penetrometer resistance of 220 N cm⁻² in fully compacted topsoils that reduced the root density from about 4 to 2.5 Mg m⁻³ in uncompacted soils. Uncompacted soils had resistance values of about 140 N cm⁻². McGarry *et al.* (1997) observed soil resistance values in Spodosols in North Queensland of about 2500 kPa

in the top 10 cm of the interrow whereas the resistance was less than 800 kPa in the intrarow. In Trinidad, Georges *et al.* (1985) found an increase in penetration resistance from 21 to 26 kg cm⁻² after wheel traffic on a clay soil.

Water intake is commonly reduced by an increase in topsoil bulk density. On Fluvents in Australia, Braunack *et al.* (1993) found differences in infiltration rates of 15–60% between the use of conventional and high flotation equipment. In Papua New Guinea, Hartemink (1998c) observed a negative exponential relation between topsoil bulk density and water intake of Vertisols and Fluvents. Bulk densities causing slow water intake ($<50 \text{ mm h}^{-1}$) were about 1.20 Mg m⁻³ in Fluvents and 1.16 Mg m⁻³ in Vertisols. For both soil types, an increase of about 0.2 Mg m⁻³ drastically reduced the water intake. Water intake in the interrow was less than 10% of the soils under natural grassland. The slow water intake in the interrows may result in soil erosion, which can be high on Vertisols.

Decreasing aggregate stability following loss of soil organic matter (see Section 2.4) may also cause increased soil bulk densities. In Vertisols in South Africa, it was found that aggregate stability was decreased following many years of inorganic fertilizer applications, particularly K. There was an increase in the proportion of monovalent cations (K, Na) and less Ca and Mg, which were leached. It favored dispersion, lowered stable soil aggregates, and increased soil bulk density (Graham *et al.*, 2002a).

Under sugarcane, the bulk density of different soils increases at different rates so it is difficult to establish a threshold bulk density value that affects the movement of air and water. Juang and Uehara (1971) mentioned that bulk density, in itself, is not a particularly useful index for predicting crop performance. It is, however, a good indication of what happens to the soil under continuous sugarcane cultivation. Although soil compaction is common, it can be relatively easily reversed. After 3 or 5 years when the sugarcane is plowed out and a new crop is planted, compacted soil layers may be broken up. Tillage usually lowers the bulk density, and sugarcane soils under zero tillage tend to have higher bulk densities than when the soil is tilled. Trash harvesting could lead to lower soil bulk densities because of increased soil organic matter contents (Srivastava, 2003).

3.2. Soil erosion

Soil erosion is a common problem under sugarcane. Some soils under sugarcane are heavy textured, for example, Vertisols that are erodible due to their low water infiltration rates after wetting (Ahmad, 1996). When planted, after harvesting, or with excessive furrow irrigation, soils may erode even if the land is nearly flat. In other soils, compaction may be accompanied by surface sealing that reduces infiltration and increases the likelihood for runoff and erosion. Also, the heat of preharvest burning makes the topsoil hydrophobic that decreases soil hydraulic conductivity (Robichaud and Hungerford, 2000) and increases the potential for runoff.

Putthacharoen *et al.* (1998) measured runoff and soil erosion under different arable crops on Quartzipsamments in Eastern Thailand. The experimental site was located on a 7% slope with annual rainfall 1300 mm. Runoff and sediment load were measured in ditches. Over a 50-month period, average annual soil erosion losses were 47 Mg ha⁻¹. Erosion was particular severe during the first 3 months after planting but once the crop was established, there was little erosion in the successive 2 years when the canopy protected the soil and contour rows reduced runoff. After 18 months, the sugarcane was trash harvested and erosion was minimal (Putthacharoen *et al.*, 1998).

A soil erosion study in the sugarcane areas of Australia, where the industry is largely confined to the high rainfall coastal zones (Johnson et al., 1997), monitored soil erosion at seven sites with slopes ranging from 5% to 18% (Prove et al., 1995). Soils were Oxisols and annual rainfall was 3300 mm. Soil erosion losses from conventionally cultivated ratoons were in the range of 47–505 Mg ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ with an average soil loss of 148 Mg ha $^{-1}$ year $^{-1}$. The variation was largely explained by the variation in the rainfall. Analyses of in situ and eroded soil indicated that sediment from notillage practices may be transported further from the erosion site and carry a more mobile fraction of nutrients (Prove et al., 1995). A time series analysis of remote sensing imagery, daily rainfall, digital soil, and terrain maps combined with the universal soil loss equation and field observations showed that average erosion rates under sugarcane in Australia are 16 Mg ha^{-1} (Lu et al., 2003). Soil loss is particularly high in newly developed sugarcane lands (Brodie and Mitchell, 2005). In Louisiana (United States), soil erosion losses under sugarcane were on average 17 Mg ha⁻¹ (Bengtson et al., 1998) but rainfall was lower than in the Australian study and ranged from 1300 to 1600 mm year⁻¹.

Various studies have been conducted in which soil erosion under sugarcane was not measured but modeled, based on remotely sensed images or models like Universal Soil Loss Equation (USLE) (Sparovek *et al.*, 2000). Erosion under sugarcane in Piracicaba in Southeastern Brazil was estimated to be 31 Mg soil ha⁻¹ (Sparovek and Schnug, 2001b). In South Taiwan, multitemporal remote sensing images and numerical simulation models were used to investigate soil erosion and nonpoint source pollution (Ning *et al.*, 2006). Total N and P measured in the runoff of sugarcane fields were six times larger than in the runoff of soils under forest. However, sugarcane made only a small contribution to total erosion and nutrient input into the river systems. In the upper northwest region of Thailand, sugarcane is an important crop and the area is expanding. Forest conversion to sugarcane accelerated soil erosion and, in some farms, the topsoil was completely eroded within 30 years of sugarcane cultivation (Sthiannopkao *et al.*, 2006).

3.2.1. Erosion control

The available evidence shows that soil erosion under sugarcane can be high, when it is immature, after burning and harvesting, and when the soil is compacted and infiltration reduced. Annual soil loss levels per hectare ranges from 47 Mg (Thailand), 16-505 Mg (Australia), 17 Mg (United States), and 31 Mg (Brazil). On most plantations, erosion control measures are taken: drains, bunds, ridges, strip cropping, and on heavy clays, strip tillage has proven successful to control erosion (de Boer, 1997). In Brazil, bench terracing following the contour is common practice to avoid runoff and soil erosion but the interest in reduced tillage and soil cover based methods to control erosion is increasing (Sparovek and Schnug, 2001a). As much of the sugarcane is cultivated on sloping land, the advantages and lower costs of harvesting mechanically on nonterraced and noncontoured fields do not encourage anti-erosion measures (Sparovek and Schnug, 2001a). Mechanical harvesting can be hindered by hilly relief but also by low labor costs (Gunkel et al., 2007). It may restrict antierosion measures like terraces and contour farming.

In Australia, no-tillage practices reduced the rates of erosion to less than $15 \text{ Mg ha}^{-1} \text{ year}^{-1}$, and the effect of no-tillage was greater than the effect of a groundcover from trash harvesting (Prove *et al.*, 1995). A recent study in Louisiana focused on the effects of polyacrylamide (PAM) and crop residues to reduce erosion. In the area, agriculture accounts for up to two-thirds of the nonpoint source pollutions and sediments with absorbed pesticides, metals, and nutrients deteriorate aquatic life in the rivers. The addition of PAM to the irrigation water had no effect on sediment load, whereas sugarcane residues significantly reduced soil erosion. Adding PAM as a water solution had no effects on the erosion in the drains, possibly as PAM is degraded by exposure to UV radiation (Kornecki *et al.*, 2006). However, when PAM was applied directly to the primary quarter-drains, soil erosion was significantly reduced (Kornecki *et al.*, 2005).

4. CHANGES IN SOIL BIOLOGICAL PROPERTIES

Changes in the soil physical and chemical properties as a result of continuous sugarcane cultivation affect the biological properties of the soils. Increasing acidity and decreasing soil organic matter as well as increased bulk density and reduced porosity and aeration cause changes in the quantity and diversity of soil life. Likewise, a change in the soil biological properties influences the chemical and physical properties of the soil. Only a few studies of this interrelationship are available (Table 2).

4.1. Macrofauna

The abundance of fire ants was investigated in different soil types in the sugarcane-growing areas of Louisiana, United States (Ali *et al.*, 1986). The ants were found in highest numbers in Vertisols possibly related to the higher soil fertility and moisture content, and lower bulk density. In these clay soils, herbicides are better degraded and sorbed, which favors ants. Increasing ground cover of weeds and trash increased the number of ants, which are predators of the insect pests in sugarcane.

In Hydrandepts under long-term sugarcane in Hawaii, no earthworms were present but earthworms were present and increased after the land was reforestated (Zou and Bashkin, 1998). This was attributed to an increase in soil organic C and N and a higher pH. Earthworm abundance and diversity has also been researched in the sugarcane fields on Oxisols of Paraná state, Brazil (Nunes *et al.*, 2006). Almost 300 earthworm species have been recorded in Brazilian soils but in the sugarcane soils only 6 species were identified. Fewer individuals and species were found in soils under sugarcane compared with pastures, but the lowest number of earthworms were found under forest. Dearth of earthworms under sugarcane was the effect of tillage (plowing, disking). Under sugarcane, native species are lost and exotic species dominate (Nunes *et al.*, 2006).

In South African Oxisols, earthworm abundance, biomass, and number of species were investigated under sugarcane and several other land uses (Dlamini and Haynes, 2004; Haynes *et al.*, 2003). Numbers of earthworms, biomass, and the number of species were lowest under sugarcane compared to soils under pasture or forest. Under sugarcane, twice as many worms were found in the plant rows as the interrow is more compacted that lowers earthworm activity as roots were absent and there was low C turnover. Earthworm numbers and biomass were closely correlated with soluble C, microbial biomass activity, and the pH. There were more worms under trash-harvested sugarcane. As was found in Brazil, the earthworms in the soils under sugarcane were mostly exotic species (Dlamini and Haynes, 2004; Haynes *et al.*, 2003). Accidentally introduced worm species dominate in many agricultural soils (Fragoso *et al.*, 1997).

The effect of burning on the insect community was investigated in Oratorios, Brazil (Araujo *et al.*, 2005). In this area, fire is used to control pests and diseases but the effects on insect populations are poorly understood. The number of insects was reduced by burning but the insect population soon recovered after the sugarcane was burned.

The few available studies suggest that both the population and abundance of the macrofauna are changed under sugarcane cultivation. Tillage, decreased C input, and burning may be the primary causes. The effects of these changes on overall soil functioning as well as on sugarcane production are yet to be quantified. Also the effects of trash harvesting and pesticide and herbicide applications on the soil macrofauna have not been well studied.

4.2. Microbes

Measurements of microbial biomass have been made in cultivated and uncultivated sites in Australia: McGarry et al. (1996a) found large reductions in microbial biomass following cultivation; they suggested that the decrease was a result of the use of pesticides. Holt and Mayer (1998) quantified microbial biomass in new and old sugarcane fields in Australia. Significantly lower microbial biomass was found in soils under long-term sugarcane (Table 11). Microbial biomass rapidly reduces after the introduction of sugarcane. Garside et al. (1997) observed that soil microbial biomass was significantly lower on old sugarcane land than on new land, again concluding that there is a rapid loss of soil microbial biomass under sugarcane, which was also observed in Oxisols in Swaziland (Henry and Ellis, 1995). The cause for such decline is not established but may be related to the use of inorganic fertilizers and biocides, and the reduction in soil organic matter. In South Africa, the effects of inorganic fertilizers on microbial biomass have shown mixed results. In some cases, microbial biomass increased whereas the fertilizer N-induced soil acidification reduced the microbial activity and the activity of exocellular enzymes (Graham and Haynes, 2005).

In Australia, Pankhurst *et al.* (2005a) investigated the effects of soil organisms on sugarcane yield. Root rot fungus and nematodes increase with continuous sugarcane cultivation but long fallows increased biological suppression of soil organisms that may cause yield decline. Root lesion nematodes decrease under fallow but the effects are short-lived (Pankhurst *et al.*, 2005b). Magarey *et al.* (1997) sampled soils continuously cropped with sugarcane and from land that has never been cultivated (Table 12). Higher levels of some fungal pathogens as well nematodes were found under permanent sugarcane but no clear picture emerged of relationships between fungi, bacteria, and actinomycetes and land use. It was concluded that yield

	Microbial biomass (μ g C g ⁻¹ soil)				
Site	New land ^a	Old land ^b	Difference		
Tully Costanzo Harney Fortini Ingham	$591 \pm 155 \\ 590 \pm 279 \\ 192 \pm 20 \\ 372 \pm 57 \\ 732 \pm 73 \\ 200 \\ 732 \pm 121 \\ 7$	357 ± 45 519 ± 295 216 ± 11 125 ± 14 313 ± 65 452	p < 0.05 ns p < 0.001 p < 0.001		

 Table 11
 Microbial biomass carbon at six sites in Queensland, Australia

^a New land is land that not been under sugarcane before or had been cultivated less than 6 months.

^b Old land is land that has been cultivated with sugarcane for prolonged periods.

Type II data, modified from Pankhurst 2005b.

	Sugarcane	Grassland	Rainforest
Total fungi ($\times 10^6 \text{ g}^{-1}$)	4.2	2.2	3.4
Total bacteria ($\times 10^8 \text{ g}^{-1}$)	4.1	3.7	4.1
Total actinomycetes ($\times 10^6 \text{ g}^{-1}$)	5.4	48	21.8
Fungal pathogens			
Pachymetra chaunorhiza (spores g soil $^{-1}$)	36	0	0
Pythium spp. (% baits colonized)	17	33	17
Nematodes			
<i>Pratylenchus zeae</i> (nematodes kg^{-1})	273	0	0
Helicotylenchus spp. (nematodes kg^{-1})	273	0	0

Table 12	Soil biological properties under permanent sugarcane, grassland, and
rainforest	in northeast Australia

Type II data, modified from Magarey et al. (1997).

decline has a major biological component (Magarey *et al.*, 1997), possibly as reduced microbial activity results from decreased soil organic C, which was also found in South Africa (Dominy and Haynes, 2002; Graham and Haynes, 2005) and India (Suman *et al.*, 2006).

In several parts of the world, sugarcane is irrigated. This affects the soil moisture regime and thus the microbial activity. A study in Zimbabwe investigated the effects of irrigation-induced salinity on microbes. Soils were sampled under dead and dying sugarcane, poor, satisfactory, and good cane growth, and from adjacent sites under native vegetation. Increasing salinity and sodicity resulted in a progressively smaller, more stressed microbial community that was less metabolically efficient. Agriculture-induced salinity and sodicity influences the chemical and physical characteristics of soils and greatly affects soil microbial and biochemical properties (Rietz and Haynes, 2003).

Changes in soil microbial biomass are closely related to changes in the soil organic matter status; the microbial biomass is governed by the same factors. A reduction is commonly perceived to negatively affect the soils productivity through, for example, reduced organic matter mineralization. The soil biological component of sugarcane cultivation has been stressed in various studies and is of importance for improved and sustained production.

5. Environmental Issues

Environmental issues resulting from continuous sugarcane cultivation for bioethanol production can be explored at different scales. Energy production is important but also the energy consumption of the production system, now more and more sugarcane is being harvested mechanically and increasing rates of inorganic fertilizers are being used. The production of greenhouse gasses is of concern, including the release of methane and NO_x by preharvest burning and inorganic fertilizers, and it may be enhanced in trash-harvested systems because of higher soil moisture contents (Macedo, 1998; Tominaga *et al.*, 2002).

Locally, contamination of the soil and water resources may occur. Commercial sugarcane is usually grown with herbicides that represent about 50% of all biocides used in many countries (Lanchote *et al.*, 2000). Most studies on the environmental impact of sugarcane have focused on the off-site effects including deterioration of surface water and air quality. Nearly all studies have been conducted in the United States and Australia, although a few have been conducted in Barbados and Brazil, reflecting differences in research priorities and capacities between economic regions (Bouma and Hartemink, 2002; Hartemink, 2002).

The Australian sugarcane industry is adjacent to the environmentally sensitive areas Great Barrier Reef and rainforests. The industry is intensifying with fewer and larger farms, using more fertilizers, continuous cropping, and utilizing more marginal soils (Gourley and Ridley, 2005). As reported in Section 3.2, soil erosion rates can be high but the precise rate and impact of sediment delivery to estuarine and marine environment is not well understood (Johnson *et al.*, 1997). Sugarcane production has significant impact on riverine water quality compared to grazing or forestry (Brodie and Mitchell, 2005). This is mainly because of higher N, P, and suspended solids in streamwater draining from highly fertilized sugarcane lands. Nutrient levels may have increased over the years and Rayment and Bloesch (2006) compiled soil acid P soil tests data of 105 sugarcane sites in Australia; they found that since the 1950s, P levels had increased from about 40 to over 100 mg kg⁻¹. High rates of P applications resulted in high levels of P in the soil, with risks for leaking to the groundwater.

Both the sugarcane industry and the broader community realize the potentially adverse ecological effects of discharges to the Great Barrier Reef lagoon. The deterioration of surface and groundwater quality is perceived by the farmers to be a consequence of new farm management strategies (Arakel *et al.*, 1993). Several measures have been taken following concerns about the downstream effects (Bunn *et al.*, 1997). In Australia, the policy has been toward a voluntary rather than regulatory approach and the industry has drawn up a national program to raise awareness among growers and introduced a "Sustainability in sugar" checklist (Gourley and Ridley, 2005). An acute concern in coastal areas is the drainage and oxidation of acid sulfate soils. Almost 10% of the soils under sugarcane in Australia are underlain by acid sulfate soils: 18,000 ha in New South Wales, 20,900 ha in South Queensland, and an unknown area in far North Queensland. Drainage of these soils has lead to acidity

discharge carrying heavy metals and arsenic into aquatic ecosystems. Such discharge has extremely negative effects on the environment (Dent and Pons, 1995; Kinsela and Melville, 2004). The industry in Australia has responded with management practices to minimize the hazard, notably by avoiding deep drainage, and national legislation now prohibits development of these soils. Such soils are also found in Guyana (Dent, 1986) and any expansion of sugarcane for bioethanol (and oil palm for biodiesel) on coastal plains needs to consider this issue.

5.1. Herbicides and pesticides

Herbicides like atrazine, diuron, 2,4-D, and alachlor are extensively used in sugarcane cultivation. Atrazine is probably the most widely used herbicide in sugarcane. These herbicides are water soluble and there is a concern that they may contaminate the soil, vadose zone, and surface and groundwaters. They may leach from sugarcane fields and that may take place along preferential flow paths and cracks in clay soils (McMartin *et al.*, 2003). The herbicides may also wash off the land by runoff and soil erosion. There is some difference in the risks in using these herbicides: atrazine and ametryne are mostly degraded by sunlight and alachlor dissipates faster than atrazine (Javaroni *et al.*, 1999).

Southwick et al. (1992) measured atrazine leaching on Vertic Haplaquepts under sugarcane in Louisiana. Maximum concentrations, found within 11 days after application, ranged from 82 to 403 μ g liter⁻¹. The lifetime health advisory limit for drinking water in the United States is 3 μ g liter⁻¹; this concentration was reached in 20–30 days after application (Southwick et al., 1992). Southwick et al. (1995) also measured leaching of atrazine and metribuzin: leaching of both herbicides was high directly after application but decreased after some weeks. Total losses ranged from 0.4% to 2.0% for atrazine and from 0.4% to 1.7% for metribuzin. Atrazine concentrations in the drainage water were again above the United States health advisory levels but the lifetime health advisory limit for metribuzin was not reached (Southwick et al., 1995). Water quality data collected over several years in the sugarcane area showed that one in five detections of atrazine is above the maximum contaminant level for drinking water (Southwick et al., 2002). Although many factors are involved, the method of application is a main factor determining the rate of herbicide loss (Bengtson et al., 1998).

In Brazil, Lanchote *et al.* (2000) measured residues of atrazine, simazin, and ametryne in surface and groundwater collected in a sugarcane area near São Paulo. Ten water-sampling points were selected in a watershed, of which nine were taken from surface water and one from groundwater. In total, 250 samples were collected but atrazine residues were detected in only 17 samples. The concentrations were below those recommended as

safe by international agencies of environmental control. Leaching and halflife of the herbicide tebuthiuron were examined under sugarcane in Santa Rita do Passa Quattro, São Paulo State. Soils were Typic Quartzipsamments. The herbicide was applied and soil samples were taken at different depths at regular intervals up to 300 days after the application. No herbicide residues were found and there was much more rapid degradation and less mobility than previously assumed; half-life was 20 days and after 180 days, there was no measurable residue in the soil (Cerdeira *et al.*, 2007).

In Mauritius, the leaching of herbicides was measured under sugarcane on Vertisols and Andosols. There was a lower risk of herbicide leaching than in temperate regions due to the high temperatures and the highly adsorbent soils. The herbicides were moderately to very immobile, although there was a considerable difference between the herbicides and the two soil types. Overall, the potential for leaching was considered very low, but during the 40 days per year when there are cyclones with high rainfall intensities, there may be considerable leaching losses (Bernard *et al.*, 2005).

Most environmental impact studies in sugarcane have focused on herbicides and few on pesticides because they are used less frequently. On an active ingredient basis, about 11 times more herbicides than pesticides are used in the Australian sugarcane industry (Arthington *et al.*, 1997). Environmental regulations caused a shift in the use of biocides in Australia: from the early 1950s until the late 1980s, organochlorine pesticides were widely used but were banned in the 1980s. A survey has investigated residues in sugarcane soils and in the coastal alluvial floodplains. Marine surface sediment samples and three sediment cores had no detectable levels of organochlorine pesticides, but easily detectable concentrations were found in the soils under sugarcane. It is likely that these pesticides move from the sugarcane soils to the near-shore marine environment by runoff and soil erosion (Cavanagh *et al.*, 1999).

Until 1985, persistent organochlorine compounds such as aldrin and heptachlor were also commonly used as insecticides on sugarcane in Brazil. Traces of these insecticides were investigated in soils, colluvium, submerged sediments, and organisms (worms, larvae) in a watershed in a sugarcane area. Most insecticides applied in the past were not detected, but organochlorine compounds that remained on the market after 1985 were detectable in significant amounts. It was concluded that a complete ban is probably the only solution for avoiding the dispersion of these products into the environment (Sparovek *et al.*, 2001).

Leaching of herbicides and pesticides is of serious concern wherever high input agriculture is practiced. Earlier work in Hawaii has shown that leaching of herbicides under sugarcane is negligible because of high adsorption rates in the soil (Hilton and Yuen, 1966). The available evidence shows no serious leaching losses under sugarcane because many soils have a high clay content (Vertisols), organic matter content (Histosols), or organic matter content. More herbicides and pesticides are lost through erosion and runoff but trash harvesting and zero-tillage reduces the risk for such losses. As zero tillage is often combined with higher levels of herbicide use, further studies are needed to investigate how such systems affect herbicide losses.

5.2. Inorganic fertilizers

Section 2.5 summarized reports on nutrient losses from fertilized sugarcane systems. High amounts of fertilizer N in the sugarcane and the contamination of surface and groundwater are a concern (Baisre, 2006). Nitrogen concentrations are often not considered to be an important criterion of surface water quality because of denitrification and biological cycling in an open system (Anderson and Rosendahl, 1997). However, there could be increased use of inorganic fertilizers to boost sugarcane production following high ethanol prices and increasing environmental impact regulations for sugarcane growers may follow.

5.2.1. Nitrogen

Leaching of N is very likely as in most sugarcane areas application rates are high, rainfall or irrigation are abundant, and N use recovery is low. Studies on N leaching under sugarcane in Brazil have been limited—possibly as N applications are low (40-60 kg N ha⁻¹) and much of the N in sugarcane is derived from BNF (de Oliveira et al., 2006)-see also Section 2.6. In Australia, N is applied at rates of 150-300 kg N ha⁻¹ and excess N has been linked to NO₃ contamination of water supplies as well as contributing to greenhouse gas emissions (Dalal et al., 2003; Gourley and Ridley, 2005; Weier, 1998). Surface water quality in forested wetlands of Louisiana is being reduced by nutrient input from adjacent agricultural production areas. A ¹⁵N study was undertaken to assess the input of fertilizer N applied to sugarcane fields and to forested wetlands (Lindau et al., 1997). The major soil orders were poorly drained Vertic Haplaquepts and Aeric Fluvaquents. Fertilizer N draining into adjacent forested wetlands was estimated to be only a small fraction of the amount applied and concentrations of NH4 and NO3 were low. About 3-4% of the applied N was removed by runoff. Even after anhydrous NH₃ application, no increase was observed in the NH₄ and NO₃ concentration. This was explained by the high clay contents of the soil and the injection of the anhydrous NH₃ at 0.10–0.15 m below the soil surface. In another study in Louisiana, it was found that NO₃ and P were present in the surface water but not at high levels and it could also not be directly linked to sugarcane cultivation (Southwick et al., 2002).

In order to reduce N losses on sugarcane plantations in Mauritius, research has focused on the use of drip-fertigation (Ng Kee Kwong *et al.*, 1999).

Applications of fertilizer N could be reduced by 30% from 120 to 80 kg N ha^{-1} year⁻¹ without a reduction in growth pattern or sugarcane yields. However, investments in drip-fertigation are large and it may not be economically and technically feasible for all sugar producing areas. Alternatively, increased plant densities may reduce the leaching of N in sugarcane systems (Yadav and Prasad, 1997).

5.2.2. Phosphorus

In Australia, P is applied at rates of $15-50 \text{ kg ha}^{-1}$. Application rates are often in excess of recommendation to avoid the risk of P-limited yields (Bramley *et al.*, 2003; Thorburn *et al.*, 2005). Application rates do not take into account the differences between different soils in their ability to release or sorb P; industry recommendations do not consider soil properties (Edis *et al.*, 2002). Also, many sugarcane soils have considerable mycorrhizal density that may enhance the P supply (Kelly *et al.*, 2005). As a result, many soils under sugarcane are well supplied with P. This is not necessary an advantage—in the United States, it was found that high soil P levels may increase rust severity (Johnson *et al.*, 2007a). An evaluation of 105 sugarcane sites in Australia showed that 84% of all soils sampled had excessive P levels, following annual applications of 20 kg P ha⁻¹. It will take a long time to deplete the high soil P levels (Rayment and Bloesch, 2006). Also in Brazil, continual fertilization with P has lead to high levels of organic and inorganic P in the topsoils (Ball-Coelho *et al.*, 1993).

Soil erosion, fertilizer P loss, and groundwater flow result in blue-green algae and excessive growth of aquatic macrophytes (Arthington *et al.*, 1997). Algal blooms are also increased by reduced water flow—a problem that occurs in the sugarcane areas of Everglades (United States) (Anderson and Rosendahl, 1997) where regulatory program with best management practices was introduced and has considerably reduced the P level in drainage waters of sugarcane farms (Rice *et al.*, 2002). It needs to be ascertained whether current P levels are acceptable for South Florida wetlands. Such assessment may be hard to make because there is a difference between freshwater and marine water on the response to increased P input from agricultural drainage waters. In Australia, it was found that environmental problems posed by P attached to sediments from sugarcane land is likely to be greater in freshwater than in marine ecosystems (Edis *et al.*, 2002).

Several cultural practices could reduce the loss of biocides from sugarcane fields: Southwick *et al.* (2002) reported variable success in the reduction of runoff losses of biocides as a result of conservation tillage; subsurface drains that increase infiltration seem to be more effective to reduce runoff and reductions up to 25% have been reported; filter strips or water settling areas may also reduce runoff, soil erosion, and sediment loss (Southwick *et al.*, 2002).

5.2.3. Heavy metals and rare earth elements

Little is known about heavy metal accumulation in sugarcane systems although flora and fauna are affected by even low concentrations. Reports from Australia have shown a sevenfold increase in Cd in the topsoils under sugarcane compared with uncultivated sites (Arthington *et al.*, 1997), probably caused by Cd contamination in P fertilizers, which is common (Kirkham, 2006). It is suspected that preharvest burning could dissipate Cd while trash blankets may concentrate Cd at the soil surface, where it could be eroded (Arthington *et al.*, 1997).

In the sugarcane areas of southern China, Chua *et al.* (1998) investigated the accumulation of cerium (Ce), a rare earth element (REE), nonradioactive, and moderately toxic. It was shown that Ce entered the sugarcane plants via the leaves exposed to atmospheric contaminants, via the roots in soils contaminated by Ce and other REEs, or applied with inorganic fertilizers (Rodriguez-Barrueco, 1996). Official limits to residual concentrations are not available but high REE concentrations in the soils under sugarcane could lead to harmful effects for humans consuming sugarcane products (Chua *et al.*, 1998).

In the Everglades of Florida, serious mercury contamination of freshwater fish in 1989 was related to preharvest burning of sugarcane (Patrick *et al.*, 1994). Soils are Histosols and the average mercury content of the Histosols was only 0.15 mg kg⁻¹; Hg concentrations in the sugarcane stalks were also low. The study concluded that direct emission of Hg from sugarcane fields during preharvest burning was only a minor source (2%) of atmospheric Hg and left open the question on the origin of the Hg contamination.

5.3. Air and water quality

The bioethanol program in Brazil started after the oil crisis in 1973 with the aim to make the country less dependent on imported oil. A big industry developed and gasoline has been replaced in large measure by ethanol from sugarcane. The cleaner air in the cities has been at the expense of increased smoke from preharvest burning in sugarcane areas. Depending on the amounts of crop residues, over 3000 kg ha⁻¹ of C is released as CO₂; the smoke is a health problem in many areas and of particular concern in newly developed suburban areas adjacent to plantations (Kornecki *et al.*, 2006). The smoke contains respirable particles that have a size less than 10 μ m (Boopathy *et al.*, 2002). Research in Brazil has shown that increases in total suspended particles generated from preharvest burning were associated with asthma hospital admissions (Arbex *et al.*, 2007). Also in Louisiana, smoke from burning sugarcane accounts for much air pollution (Kornecki *et al.*, 2006) and a link was found between asthma admissions hospital visitations and sugarcane burning. As the prevalence of asthma in both adults and

children is rising in many parts of the world, detailed studies on the effects of weather, pollen counts, and air pollution from sugarcane burning and the pollution from other sources are needed (Boopathy *et al.*, 2002).

Water quality is affected by sugarcane cultivation through loss of biocides and inorganic fertilizers (see Sections 2.5 and 5.1) and through sugarcane processing plants. These plants produce waste waters (stillage, vinasse) that are used for fertigation but some are discharged in streams and rivers like in the sugarcane areas in Cuba (Rosabal *et al.*, 2007). In Pernambuco in the northeast of Brazil, the waste water heats the riverwater, contains organic acids, and has a high biological oxygen demand (Gunkel *et al.*, 2007)—all of which deplete aquatic life. A number of treatment options exist including wastewater lagoons, trickling filters, and activated sludge systems. In areas with high risks of water pollution, changes in land use and reforestation may be the only options (Gunkel *et al.*, 2007).

6. DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS

Sugarcane is a major cash crop, increasingly used for bioethanol production. Given the increase in oil prices coupled to the demand for renewable energy sources, it is likely that the area under sugarcane will further expand. Both expansion and further intensification (fewer and bigger farms) affect the soil and wider environment.

6.1. Sugarcane for bioethanol

Sugarcane is an ideal crop for renewable energy because of its rapid growth and high energy production per hectare. Fossil energy is needed for growing of the crop and the production of bioethanol, which partly offsets the energy produced. In Brazil, fossil energy costs are minimized by the use of processing products like bagasse for energy. The energy balance (yield over fossil energy) of such systems may range from 9 to 11 (Macedo, 1998), which compares very favorably to many other biofuel crops. In part, this favorable balance is explained by the relatively low N application rates to sugarcane in Brazil because of the high rates of BNF. In many agricultural systems, inorganic fertilizers are a major budget line. Overall, BNF can be considered one of the principal reasons for the success of the bioethanol program in Brazil (Medeiros *et al.*, 2006).

Several cultural practices that reduce the energy demand for growing sugarcane. Tillage before planting requires about one-third of the total operational energy. Zero tillage seems to have little effect on crop yield whereas mechanical trash harvesting increases the energy demand as compared to preharvest burning (Srivastava, 2003). However, preharvest

burning is increasingly criticized because of public health issues related to the smoke and because of the loss of beneficial crop residues. Thus, the use of bioethanol has effectively reduced air pollution in many cities but the urban areas surrounding sugarcane areas are largely affected by the preharvest burning, which takes place about 6 months per year (Arbex *et al.*, 2007).

Another aspect that deserves discussion is the expansion of sugarcane in relation to land used for food production. It is projected that in many industrialized regions, the area under agriculture will decrease whereas the area under agriculture in developing regions is increasing (Smeets et al., 2007). Most of the human population increase takes place in the developing regions (Fischer and Heilig, 1997) where the need to increase crop production is largest (Sanchez, 2002; Swaminathan, 2006). It has been calculated that 55% of the present global agricultural land will be needed for food production in the year 2050, if high external input agriculture is practiced (Wolf et al., 2003). The remaining 45% can be used for other purposes including biofuels. There will be no land available for biomass production when low external input agriculture is practiced (Wolf et al., 2003). Little new land is available in developing regions (Young, 1999) so crop production for food and biofuel competes for the same land area. Some expansion is possible through the clearing of forest or savanna, but most of the increased biomass production needs to come from intensification of the present systems.

According to Hill *et al.* (2006), a biofuel should provide a net energy gain, have environmental benefits, be economically competitive, and able to be produced in large quantities. Sugarcane for bioethanol can fulfill these criteria. The net energy gain is several times the input and it is economically grown in many countries without the subsidies that other biofuel crops receive (e.g., corn in the United States or rapeseed in Europe). It is not affecting staple food production in the United States or Australia—where it is grown for sugar. In Brazil and some other tropical countries where sugarcane is mainly grown for bioethanol, a further increase may compete with food production; that assessment is yet to be made.

6.2. Effects on the soil

Most studies have shown that soil acidification takes place under sugarcane, principally due to the use of N fertilizers containing or producing NH₄⁺. All ammoniacal N fertilizers release protons when NH₄⁺ is oxidized to NO₃ by nitrifying microorganisms. Also, mineralization of organic matter can contribute to soil acidity by the oxidation of N and S to HNO₃ and H₂SO₄ (Sumner, 1997). Because organic matter declined in most soils under sugarcane, it may have contributed to the increase in soil acidity. Acidity is reversible; liming readily restores productivity but if acidification has also

taken place in the subsoil, amelioration is much more difficult. There is only a small response of sugarcane to lime on moderately acid soils (Turner *et al.*, 1992) whereas in other studies, a decrease in the sugar content was found after lime applications (Kingston *et al.*, 1996). Sugarcane is fairly tolerant of acidity and high concentrations of exchangeable and soluble Al (Hetherington *et al.*, 1988); avoiding strong soil acidification might be a better option than the use of lime to correct for high acidity inputs.

Soil organic C dynamics have received much attention in sugarcane, but there are some conflicting reports. A part of the problem is that total soil organic C determined by the Walkley and Black or the dry combustion method is not very sensitive to short-term changes in land use. Long-term observations are required to pick up statistically significant differences in soil organic C levels. It is also related to the spatial variability in total soil organic C. Notwithstanding these methodological problems, total soil organic C decreased in most topsoils and in most soil types. This may be the effect of tillage that causes increased soil organic matter decomposition compared with soils under natural ecosystems, but, also, because of lower inputs of organic matter in sugarcane systems. Soil texture plays an important role in the rate of change in soil organic C and this change also differs for different size fractions. An equilibrium is reached after many years but it is generally lower than the initial level in the soil under forest. In a number of soils, it was found that levels of soil organic C increased in the subsoil. The decrease in soil organic matter under continuous sugarcane reduces soil biological activity and increases the susceptibility of the soils to physical degradation.

Soil compaction is a common problem in mechanized systems, mainly due to the heavy machinery used for field operations at the wrong soil moisture levels. Also, frequent applications of inorganic fertilizers may lower soil aggregate stability of some soils (Graham et al., 2002a) and increase the bulk density and lower the rates of water infiltration (Mills and Fey, 2003). Erosion losses up to 505 Mg soil ha^{-1} year⁻¹ have been reported under sugarcane. Erosion can be high after the harvest and with replanting, especially on sloping land (Blackburn, 1984). Sugarcane is more prone to soil erosion than other perennial crops because the periodic harvesting removes almost all vegetation from the field (Hartemink, 2005b). On the other hand, sugarcane covers the soil in most parts of the year so reduces the risk for soil erosion. Erosion means loss of productive topsoils but also sedimentation in the lower part of the catchment that may cause environmental problems. In Australia, there seems to be little evidence to support claims that sediment deposition resulting from sugarcane cultivation has had a major impact on the characteristics of the rivers and sugar catchments over the last 50-100years (Johnson et al., 1997). However, there is increasing concern about the erosional effects and green harvesting methods have been advocated to reduce soil erosion (Wood, 1991).

The advantages of green or trash harvesting also include soil water conservation, reduced soil temperature, increased soil fertility and soil organic matter, and improved soil structure. Residue burning leads to a loss of N, reduced soil organic matter with deterioration of physical and microbiological properties, and an increase in greenhouse gases (Basanta *et al.*, 2003). The trash has nematocidal properties (Akhtar, 1993), combats weeds, and there are also more roots in trash-harvested systems that increase nutrient uptake, particularly P (Ball-Coelho *et al.*, 1993). Several reports have indicated that the trash harvesting has the potential to maintain or increase soil organic carbon contents (de Resende *et al.*, 2006; Noble *et al.*, 2003; Razafimbelo *et al.*, 2006) and reduce the susceptibility of the soil to compaction (Barzegar *et al.*, 2000).

There are also some disadvantages. Trash may hinder tillage, reduce nutrient availability through immobilization, and cause waterlogging resulting in N losses through denitrification especially on poorly drained soils (Wood, 1991). Some studies have found that sugarcane trash is allelopathic (Viator *et al.*, 2006). In cooler areas (e.g., Louisiana, United States, or North South Wales, Australia), the trash results in increased soil moisture and lower soil temperatures that not only delay the reemergence of a ratoon crop but can also increase sugarcane infection by parasitic soil fungi (Viator *et al.*, 2005). Consequently, sugarcane yield may be reduced by 4.5–13.5 Mg ha⁻¹ (Johnson *et al.*, 2007b).

Trash quantities are large $(7-12 \text{ Mg DM } ha^{-1})$ and contain high amounts of C (3-5 Mg C ha⁻¹) and N (28-54 kg N ha⁻¹). In the United States, a trash-harvested field may contain up to 24 Mg DM ha^{-1} . The C/N ratio is typically over 70. In some studies, it was found that the trash is decomposed within a year (Vallis et al., 1996), but it may also take longer (Robertson and Thorburn, 2007a). In the longer term, it may improve soil N levels but that depends on the climate, soil, and management practices (Meier et al., 2006). For example, in South Africa and Australia, it was found that sugarcane yields were higher under trash retention because of better moisture conservation (Thorburn et al., 2005), but soils in trash-harvested systems are more acid (Hartemink, 1998a; Noble et al., 2003). Research has shown that fertilizer N applications should not be reduced in the first 6 years after trash harvesting has started and small reductions $(15-40 \text{ kg ha}^{-1})$ may be possible after 15 years of trash harvesting but that is site dependent (Robertson and Thorburn, 2007b). Overall, sugarcane trash is N source of slow availability to the crop (Basanta et al., 2003).

6.3. Effects on air and water

Sugarcane is either grown under rainfed conditions with high rainfall or irrigated areas which may enhance leaching of fertilizers. In most sugarcane areas, N applications are high and the recovery of fertilizer N ranges from

20% to 50%. Research in the United States showed that leaching losses were up to 60% of the applied N; in Australia, leaching, runoff, and denitrification caused loss of 60% of the applied N (Vallis et al., 1996). There is concern about the effects of rising NO₃ levels in groundwater resulting from intensive cropping in relation to environmentally sensitive areas. Gaseous losses are also important and there are indications that sugarcane may loose some of its N through the aerial parts of the plant. Nitrogen losses from denitrification and ammoniacal losses from N applied on trash contribute to greenhouse gas emissions. A quantitative link between gaseous and leaching losses of inorganic fertilizers and the wider environment has not been clearly established for sugarcane—this applies to most agricultural crops. Increasing public and political concern and refined measurement techniques might lead to new regulatory measures to minimize nutrient losses to the environment. This also applies to herbicide and pesticide use. Further development of integrated pest management practices that minimize the use of pesticides is needed to reduce the environmental impact of sugarcane cultivation (Joshi and Viraktamath, 2004; Reay-Jones et al., 2005; Robertson et al., 1995).

Sugarcane cultivation affects the balance of CO_2 and other greenhouse gas emissions. Methane is emitted with preharvest burning, when stillage is applied as a soil conditioner, and when fertilizer and bagasse is burned. Also NO_x is emitted from the soil. Growing sugarcane fixes atmospheric CO_2 by photosynthesis but there are emissions from the combustion of fossil fuel for field operations, transport, agrochemical production, irrigation, as well the processing plants. The carbon benefit comes from substituting gasoline by ethanol bagasse for fossil fuels in the processing plants (Macedo, 1998). The net contribution of the sugarcane-bioethanol industry to atmospheric CO_2 has not been assessed.

Largely unquantified, and ignored in the CO_2 footprint discussion, is the net changes in soil organic C. This chapter has shown that soil organic C declines under sugarcane cultivation. The decline is different for different soil types and much depends on the original C level and the period of cultivation. Some soils under sugarcane have released very large amounts of CO_2 when cultivated. In the Everglades of Florida (United States), some 167,000 ha of mainly peat (Histosols) is under sugarcane (Muchovej *et al.*, 2000). More than half of the wetlands have been drained (Schrope, 2001) and since 1900, many areas have lost 2.7–4.0 m of surface elevation due to subsidence upon drainage. Clearly, the drainage of such peat lands has emitted very large amounts of CO_2 that will not be sequestered by growing sugarcane. In most mineral soils, organic C levels reach equilibrium after many years of sugarcane cultivation, and once soil organic C levels have stabilized, sugarcane cultivation can be seen as a net atmospheric CO_2 fixer.

The effects of sugarcane cultivation on the atmosphere include smoke from preharvest burning and processing factories. The smoke affects the health of people living in the surrounding areas. Trash harvesting is the obvious solution but under many conditions (steep slopes, terraces), and for many small-scale farmers, mechanized harvesting is not feasible and preharvest burning is the only option. An indirect effect of the sugarcane for bioethanol program is that the air quality in Brazilian cities has much improved since use of ethanol for cars (Arbex *et al.*, 2007), as almost one-fifth of all cars in Brazil run on ethanol. Sugarcane ethanol is a relatively clean fuel as it contains no sulfur oxides, solid microparticles of carbon, benzene, and lead (Pessoa *et al.*, 2005).

6.4. Sugarcane yields

Few of the many reports in the scientific literature on the effects of continuous sugarcane cultivation on the soil and the environment quantify the effects of changes on sugarcane yields. This is, perhaps, not surprising as such relations are hard to establish, or may not be directly measurable—they occur gradually and there is considerable within-field variation of both yield (e.g., Johnson and Richard, 2005a,b) and soil properties (e.g., Tominaga *et al.*, 2002) that may mask the effects of soil changes. Sugarcane yields are indeed highly variable and range from 36 to 134 g ha⁻¹ in Louisiana, from 65 to 150 Mg ha⁻¹ in Australia, and from 70 to 200 Mg ha⁻¹ in Brazil. Many factors other than trends in soil chemical properties may explain yield patterns. One of the factors that have received some attention in the literature is the relation between imbalanced plant nutrition and pests and diseases. Recent work in Louisiana, based on earlier studies in Florida, has shown that sugarcane rust is related to excess P and S levels and soil acidity.

A simple way of starting to investigate the relationships between a yield pattern and the trends in soil chemical fertility is to present yield data and soil data from differently producing sugarcane fields. Muchovej *et al.* (2000) measured soil chemical properties in "good" and "poor" spots in Florida. In the study area, sugarcane often exhibits areas of reduced growth that can comprise up to 25% of a field. Dominant soils were Spodosols. Soil pH, organic C, and exchangeable cations were significantly higher for the areas of good sugarcane growth (Table 13). Nutrients, organic C, and microbial populations were less with increasing depth. Although moisture appeared to be an important factor in the areas of reduced growth, a lower or higher water table was not associated with low-yielding areas in the field. Differences in soil chemical properties may be an important explanation for the differences in sugarcane growth.

At a sugarcane plantation in Papua New Guinea, annual sugarcane yields have ranged from 28 to 88 Mg ha⁻¹ over 15 years (Hartemink and Kuniata, 1996). This wide variation was explained by sudden and catastrophic infestation of pests and diseases; to a lesser extent, yields were also affected by weed competition. Changes in soil properties under continuous cultivation

Sampling		Site I		Site II	
depth (m)	Soil chemical property	Good	Poor	Good	Poor
0-0.15	pH	6.4	5.8	6.8	5.9
	Organic C (g kg ⁻¹)	7.3	4.6	5.8	4.5
	Available P (mg kg ⁻¹)	200	166	38	23
	Exchangeable Ca (mmol _c kg ⁻¹)	162.7	90.7	61.9	23.5
	Exchangeable Mg (mmol _c kg ⁻¹)	10.2	10.2	1.8	1.6
	Exchangeable K (mmol _c kg ⁻¹)	3.1	2.0	2.0	1.4
0.15-0.30	pH	6.7	6.3	6.6	6.3
	Organic C (g kg ⁻¹)	5.3	2.9	3.5	2.7
	Available P (mg kg ⁻¹)	55	54	40.0	27.9
	Exchangeable Ca (mmol _c kg ⁻¹)	35.9	21.9	30.8	11.9
	Exchangeable Mg (mmol _c kg ⁻¹)	3.2	3.4	1.5	0.5
	Exchangeable K (mmol _c kg ⁻¹)	1.5	1.0	2.3	0.8

Table 13Soil chemical properties from Spodosols under "good" and "poor"sugarcane growth at two sites in Florida, United States

Modified from Muchovej et al. (2000).

included decreases in pH, available P and exchangeable K, and soil compaction (Hartemink, 1998c). Leaf nutrient concentrations of N, P, and K also declined (Hartemink, 1998b). It was concluded that the yields were largely influenced by insect pests and diseases but that the management of soil fertility is increasingly important once those problems have been solved.

In Australia, there is widespread evidence that sugarcane yield has been declining. Higher yields are usually obtained on soils that have not been cultivated before (Lawes et al., 2000; Wood, 1985). The yield decline is thought to be caused by a combination of enhanced soil-borne pests and diseases (McGarry et al., 1996a), the frequent tillage, and the use of heavy machinery (McGarry et al., 1996b; Pankhurst et al., 2005a). Soil management practices such as excessive cultivation, insufficient fallowing, the burning of crop residues, and the application of large amounts of N fertilizers are believed to be partially responsible for the decline in sugarcane yield in Australia (Wood, 1985). Pankhurst et al. (2005b) investigated the effects of fallow periods and different fallows on sugarcane yield and soil biological properties (Table 14). A fallow period and fumigation resulted in significant higher yields compared with continuously cropped fields, although the effect differed between sites and soil types. The increase in yield was most likely due to reduced populations of soil organisms (e.g., lesion nematodes) that cause yield decline in sugarcane (Pankhurst et al., 2005b).

The Australian studies had considerable impact on the way sugarcane was cultivated and several practices evolved to improve soil: less tillage is being practiced and preharvest burning has been replaced by trash

	Tully	Ingham	Burdekin	Mackay	Bundaberg
Soil type	Alfisols, Ultisols	Alfisols	Inceptisol	Alfisol	Alfisol
Continuous sugarcane	44	38	118	60	112
Continuous sugarcane fumigated	83	83	152	101	143
Pasture (grass/legume)	73	76	153	104	
Pasture (grass) Pasture (legume)					121 116

Table 14 Effect of fallow and fumigation on plant crop sugarcane yield (Mg ha⁻¹) at five sites in Australia

Modified from Pankhurst et al. (2005b) based on the work of A. Garside.

harvesting. Preharvest burning is only possible in dry weather (Wood, 1991) and it may cause about 30% of the annual N removal in a sugar crop (Valdivia, 1982). There may be considerable K losses as ash being blown off the plots following burning (Graham et al., 2002a). In South Africa, loss of soil organic matter under sugarcane as a result of preharvest burning is assumed to be a major contributor to soil degradation and may have yield effects (Graham and Haynes, 2006). In Brazil, it was found that over a 16-year period, trash harvesting increased sugarcane yield by 25% (de Resende et al., 2006); in India, trash harvesting improved crop yields from 49 to 73 Mg ha⁻¹ (Srivastava, 2003); and in the Philippines, yields are increased by trash harvesting (Mulkins, 2000). Fallow periods after the plowing-out of the sugarcane is common in some areas and may give yield increases: in Alfisols in Swaziland, sugarcane increased from 129 to 140 Mg ha⁻¹ after a fallow period (Nixon and Simmonds, 2004), but it is not known whether the increase is the effect of improvement in soil physical or biological soil attributes, or a decline in pests and diseases, or a combination of factors.

The relation between soil changes and sugarcane yield is not always clear. In Mexico, a decline in soil fertility after 30 years of sugarcane cultivation was accompanied by an increase in sugarcane yields. This was explained by improved crop husbandry, although no details are given (de la F *et al.*, 2006). In Bangladesh, sugarcane yields have declined from about 43 Mg ha⁻¹ in the early 1970s to 39 Mg ha⁻¹ in the 1990s. Based on farmers' interviews, this decline is perceived to be caused by organic matter depletion and a general decline in soil fertility (Hossain, 2001).

This chapter has shown that soils are much changed under continuous sugarcane cultivation but the effects of these changes on yield are hard to quantify. In many parts of the world, yields have increased whereas in many fields, the soils had adversely changed (i.e., lower pH, loss of soil organic matter, increased bulk density). These yield increases are attributed to better crop husbandry, new cultivars, and higher rates of external inputs, particularly N fertilizer. Sugarcane growers are concerned about soil changes. Management techniques have been adopted to improve soil conditions or reduce the negative effects of continuous cultivation including trash harvesting and zero tillage. Improved soil management strategies should be targeted toward the genetic potential of the sugarcane.

6.5. The potential for precision farming

Most environmental impact studies in sugarcane areas have been conducted in the United States and Australia, where the crop is cultivated with high levels of inputs (herbicides, pesticides, inorganic fertilizers etc). The heavy use of agrochemicals is a concern but these inputs also guarantee high yields. Precision agriculture has great potential in sugarcane monocropping systems; it may result in increased yield, savings in fertilizers and biocides, and reduced potential for off-farm environmental damage (Wood et al., 1997). Sugarcane is an ideal crop for precision agriculture as it is capital-intensive, grown on a large scale, and monocropped for several years. Various studies have investigated the possibilities, mainly in Brazil (e.g., Cora et al., 2004; Galvao et al., 2005; Magalhaes and Cerri, 2007; Sparovek and Schnug, 2001a), United States (Johnson and Richard, 2005b), and Australia (Bramley and Quabba, 2002; Everingham et al., 2007) but also in Mauritius, India, and South Africa. However, the economic and ecological benefits of precision agriculture that have so widely been advocated and used in other cropping systems (Cox, 2002; Pierce and Nowak, 1999; Robert, 2002; Swaminathan, 2006) have not been fully exploited in sugarcane. Given the rapid expansion of the crop in many parts of the world, such technologies are needed for maintaining high yields and sustaining a healthy environment

Several growth models have been developed for sugarcane—particularly in Australia (e.g., Cheeroo-Nayamuth *et al.*, 2000; Stewart *et al.*, 2006; Thorburn *et al.*, 2005; Wood *et al.*, 1996): SUCROWS, AUSCANE, CANEGRO, and APSIM-Sugarcane. The two main models are APSIM-Sugarcane and CANEGRO and are based on the CERES maize model (Thorburn *et al.*, 2005). These models have increased the understanding of sugarcane physiology and served to identify knowledge gaps and research areas. They have also influenced sugarcane farming systems and policy (Lisson *et al.*, 2005). Models can be coupled to studies on soil variation and yield mapping (Johnson and Richard, 2005a; Timm *et al.*, 2003) and be combined with newly developed yield-monitoring equipment (Magalhaes and Cerri, 2007).

Mechanized precision farming technologies are beyond the financial and technical capacities of smallholders. However, many smallholders have high skills that can match and substitute high-technology principles used in capital-intensive precision farming. Fertilizers may be too expensive or unavailable but biofertilizers that combine mineral rock phosphate, organic amendments, and soluble fertilizer (Stamford *et al.*, 2006) could be an appropriate nutrient management strategy.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I am grateful to Dr David Dent for critically commenting on the text. Dr. Russell Yost of the University of Hawaii, and Drs. Edward Richard and Richard Johnson of USDA-ARS-SSRC provided information about the sugarcane in the United States; Mr. Bernie Powell kindly provided information on sugarcane and acid sulfate soils in Australia.

REFERENCES

- Abruña-Rodriguez, F., and Vicente-Chandler, J. (1967). Sugarcane yields as related to acidity of a humid tropical Ultisol. *Agron. J.* **59**, 330–332.
- Ahmad, N. (1983). Vertisols. In "Pedogenesis and Soil Taxonomy. II. The Soil Orders" (L. P. Wilding, N. E. Smeck, and F. G. Hall, Eds.), pp. 91–123. Elsevier, Amsterdam.
- Ahmad, N. (1996). Management of Vertisols in rainfed conditions. In "Vertisols and Technologies for Their Management. Developments in Soil Science 24" (N. Ahmad and A. Mermut, Eds.), pp. 363–428. Elsevier, Amsterdam.
- Akhtar, M. (1993). Utilization of plant-origin waste materials for the control of plantparasitic nematodes. *Bioresour. Technol.* 46, 255–257.
- Alaban, R. A., Barredo, F. C., and Aguirre, A. L. (1990). An assessment of some indicators and determinants of farm productivity and soil fertility in the VMC district: trends, associations, interactions 1969–1990. "Proceedings of the Philippine Sugar Technologists", pp. 64–83.
- Ali, A. D., Hudnall, W. H., and Reagan, T. E. (1986). Effects of soil types and cultural practices on the fire ant, *Solenopsis invicta*, in sugarcane. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* 18, 63–71.
- Allison, F. E. (1966). The fate of nitrogen applied to soils. Adv. Agron. 18, 219–258.
- Anderson, D. L., and Rosendahl, P. (1997). The development and application of environmental policy: the Everglades and Florida sugar industry. *In* "Intensive Sugarcane Production–Meeting the Challenges Beyond 2000" (B. A. Keating and J. R. Wilson, Eds.), pp. 381–402. CAB International, Wallingford.
- Andrietta, M. G. S., Andrietta, S. R., Steckelberg, C., and Stupiello, E. N. A. (2007). Bioethanol: Brazil, 30 years of Proalcool. Int. Sugar J. 109, 195–200.
- Arakel, A. V., Loder, T., Mcconchie, D., and Pailles, C. (1993). Environmental consequences of land degradation in coastal drainage basins of North Queensland, Australia: Influence of farming practices. *Land Degrad. Rehabil.* 4, 99–112.
- Araujo, R. A., Araujo, M. S., Gonring, A. H. R., and Guedes, R. N. C. (2005). Impact of controlled sugarcane straw burning on local insect community. *Neotrop. Entomol.* 34, 649–658.

- Arbex, M. A., Martins, L. C., de Oliveira, R. C., Pereira, L. A. A., Arbex, F. F., Cancado, J. E. D., Saldiva, P. H. N., and Braga, A. L. F. (2007). Air pollution from biomass burning and asthma hospital admissions in a sugar cane plantation area in Brazil. *J. Epidemiol. Community Health* **61**, 395–400.
- Arthington, A. H., Marshal, J. C., Rayment, G. E., Hunter, H. M., and Bunn, S. E. (1997).
 Potential impact of sugarcane production on riparian and freshwater environments. *In* "Intensive Sugarcane Production: Meeting the Challenges Beyond 2000" (B. A. Keating and J. R. Wilson, Eds.), pp. 403–412. CAB International, Wallingford.
- Baisre, J. A. (2006). Assessment of nitrogen flows into the Cuban landscape. *Biogeochemistry* **79**, 91–108.
- Ball-Coelho, B., Salcedo, I. H., Tiessen, H., and Stewart, J. W. B. (1993). Short-term and long-term phosphorus dynamics in a fertilized ultisol under sugarcane. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 57, 1027–1034.
- Barzegar, A. R., Asoodar, M. A., and Ansari, M. (2000). Effectiveness of sugarcane residue incorporation at different water contents and the Proctor compaction loads in reducing soil compactibility. *Soil Tillage Res.* 57, 167–172.
- Basanta, M. V., Dourado-Neto, D., Reichardt, K., Bacchi, O. O. S., Oliveira, J. C. M., Trivelin, P. C. O., Timm, L. C., Tominaga, T. T., Correchel, V., Cassaro, F. A. M., Pires, L. F., and de Macedo, J. R. (2003). Management effects on nitrogen recovery in a sugarcane crop grown in Brazil. *Geoderma* **116**, 235–248.
- Bengtson, R. L., Selim, H. M., and Ricaud, R. (1998). Water quality from sugarcane production on alluvial soils. *Trans. ASAE* **41**, 1331–1336.
- Bernard, H., Chabalier, P. F., Chopart, J. L., Legube, B., and Vauclin, M. (2005). Assessment of herbicide leaching risk in two tropical soils of Reunion Island (France). J. Environ. Qual. 34, 534–543.
- Blackburn, F. (1984). "Sugar-Cane." Longman, Harlow.
- Blair, N. (2000). Impact of cultivation and sugar-cane green trash management on carbon fractions and aggregate stability for a Chromic Luvisol in Queensland, Australia. *Soil Tillage Res.* 55, 183–191.
- Boddey, R. M., Urquiaga, S., Reis, V., and Döbereiner, J. (1991). Biological nitrogen fixation associated with sugar cane. *Plant Soil* **137**, 111–117.
- Boddey, R. M., De Oliveira, O. C., Urquiaga, S., Reis, V. M., De Olivares, F. L., Baldani, V. L. D., and Döbereiner, J. (1995). Biological nitrogen fixation associated with sugar cane and rice: Contributions and prospects for improvement. *Plant Soil* 174, 195–209.
- Boddey, R. M., Urquiaga, S., Alves, B. J. R., and Reis, V. (2003). Endophytic nitrogen fixation in sugarcane: present knowledge and future applications. *Plant Soil* 252, 139–149.
- Boopathy, R., Asrabadi, B. R., and Ferguson, T. G. (2002). Sugar cane (Saccharum officinarum L) burning and asthma in Southeast Louisiana, USA. Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 68, 173–179.
- Bouma, J., and Hartemink, A. E. (2002). Soil science and society in the Dutch context. *Neth. J. Agric. Sci.* **50**, 133–140.
- Bramley, R. G. V., and Quabba, R. P. (2002). Opportunities for improving the management of sugarcane production through the adoption of precision agriculture: An Australian perspective. *Int. Sugar J.* **104**, 152–161.
- Bramley, R. G. V., Ellis, N., Nable, R. O., and Garside, A. L. (1996). Changes in soil chemical properties under long-term sugar cane monoculture and their possible role in sugar yield decline. *Aust. J. Soil Res.* 34, 967–984.
- Bramley, R. G. V., Roth, C. H., and Wood, A. W. (2003). Risk assessment of phosphorus loss from sugarcane soils—A tool to promote improved management of P fertilizer. *Aust. J. Soil Res.* 41, 627–644.

- Braunack, M. V. (2004). A tyre option for sugarcane haulout trucks to minimise soil compaction. J. Terramechanics 41, 243–253.
- Braunack, M. V., and McGarry, D. (2006). Traffic control and tillage strategies for harvesting and planting of sugarcane (Saccharum officinarum) in Australia. Soil Tillage Res. 89, 86–102.
- Braunack, M., Wood, A. W., Dick, R. G., and Glimour, J. M. (1993). The extent of soil compaction in sugarcane soils and a technique to minimise it. Sugar Cane 5, 12–18.
- Braunbeck, O., Bauen, A., Rosillo-Calle, F., and Cortez, L. (1999). Prospects for green cane harvesting and cane residue use in Brazil. *Biomass Bioenergy* 17, 495–506.
- Brennan, L. E., Ridge, D. R., and Milford, B. J. (1997). Raising profitability and productivity by improving harvesting procedures. *In* "Intensive Sugarcane Production: Meeting the Challenges Beyond 2000" (B. A. Keating and J. R. Wilson, Eds.), pp. 327–342. CAB International, Wallingford.
- Brodie, J. E., and Mitchell, A. W. (2005). Nutrients in Australian tropical rivers: changes with agricultural development and implications for receiving environments. *Mar. Freshwater Res.* 56, 279–302.
- Bunn, S. E., Davies, P. M., and Kellaway, D. M. (1997). Contributions of sugar cane and invasive pasture grass to the aquatic food web of a tropical lowland stream. *Mar. Freshwater Res.* 48, 173–179.
- Campos, C. A., Oleschko, L. K., Etchevers, B. J., and Hidalgo, M. C. (2007). Exploring the effect of changes in land use on soil quality on the eastern slope of the Cofre de Perote Volcano (Mexico). *Forest Ecol. Manage.* 248, 174–182.
- Caron, J., Espindola, C. R., and Angers, D. A. (1996). Soil structural stability during rapid wetting—influence of land use on some aggregate properties. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 60, 901–908.
- Carrillo, M. A. R., Garcia, S. S., Palma-Lopez, D. J., and Lagunes-Espinoza, L. D. (2003). Chemical and physical properties of a vertisol soil cultivated with sugarcane. *Interciencia* 28, 154–159.
- Cassel, D. K., and Lal, R. (1992). Soil physical properties of the tropics: common beliefs and management restraints. In "Myths and science of soils in the tropics" (P. A. Sanchez and R. Lal, Eds.), pp. 61–89. SSSA, Madison.
- Cavanagh, J. E., Burns, K. A., Brunskill, G. J., and Coventry, R. J. (1999). Organochlorine pesticide residues in soils and sediments of the Herbert and Burdekin river regions, North Queensland: Implications for contamination of the Great Barrier Reef. *Mar. Pollut. Bull.* 39, 367–375.
- Ceddia, M. B., Cynha Dos Anjos, L. H., Lima, E., Neto, A. R., and da Silva, L. A. (1999). Sugar cane harvesting systems and changes of physical properties of a yellow podzolic soil in Espirito Santo, Brazil (in Spanish). *Pesq. Agropec. Bras.* 34, 1467–1473.
- Cerdeira, A. L., Desouza, M. D., Queiroz, S. C. N., Ferracini, V. L., Bolonhezi, D., Gomes, M. A. E., Rosa, M. A., Balderrama, O., Rampazzo, P., Queiroz, R. H. C., Neto, C. E., and Matallo, M. B. (2007). Leaching and half-life of the herbicide tebuthiuron on a recharge area of Guarany aquifer in sugarcane fields in Brazil. *J. Environ. Sci. Health Part B—Pesticides Food Contaminants and Agricultural Wastes* **42**, 635–639.
- Cerri, C. C., and Andreux, F. (1990). Changes in organic carbon content in Oxisols cultivated with sugar cane and pasture, based on ¹³C natural abundance measurement. *In* "14th International Congress of Soil Science.", Vol. IV: Commission IV, pp. 98–103, Kyoto.
- Chalk, P. M. (1991). The contribution of associative and symbiotic nitrogen fixation to the nitrogen nutrition of non-legumes. *Plant Soil* **132**, 29–39.
- Chapman, L. S., Haysom, M. B. C., and Saffigna, P. G. (1994). The recovery of ¹⁵N from labelled urea fertilizer in crop components of sugarcane and in soil profiles. *Aust. J. Agric. Res.* 45, 1577–1585.

- Cheeroo-Nayamuth, F. C., Robertson, M. J., Wegener, M. K., and Nayamuth, A. R. H. (2000). Using a simulation model to assess potential and attainable sugar cane yield in Mauritius. *Field Crop. Res.* 66, 225–243.
- Chua, H., Zhao, Y. G., Kwang, Y. H., Liu, Q. Y., and Liu, X. H. (1998). Accumulation of environmental residues of rare earth elements in sugarcane. *Environ. Int.* 24, 287–291.
- Coale, F. J. (1993). Sugarcane cultivar response to dolomite amendment of an acidic sandy soil. J. Am. Soc. Sugar Cane Technol. 13, 94–97.
- Cora, J. E., Araujo, A. V., Pereira, G. T., and Beraldo, J. M. G. (2004). Assessment of spatial variability of soil attributes as a basis for the adoption of precision agriculture in sugarcane plantations. *Rev. Bras. Cienc. Solo* 28, 1013–1021.
- Courtaillac, N., Baran, R., Oliver, R., Casabianca, H., and Ganry, E. (1998). Efficiency of nitrogen fertilizer in the sugarcane-vertical system in Guadeloupe according to growth and ratoon age of the cane. *Nutr. Cycl. Agroecosyst.* 52, 9–17.
- Courtenay, P. (1980). "Plantation Agriculture." 2nd Edn., Bell & Hyman, London.
- Cox, S. (2002). Information technology: the global key to precision agriculture and sustainability. *Comput. Electron. Agric.* 36, 93–111.
- Dalal, R. C., Wang, W. J., Robertson, G. P., and Parton, W. J. (2003). Nitrous oxide emission from Australian agricultural lands and mitigation options: a review. *Aust. J. Soil Res.* 41, 165–195.
- de Boer, H. G. (1997). Strip tillage in sugar cane agriculture: techniques and challenges. *Zuckerindustrie* **5**, 371–375.
- de Geus, J. G. (1973). "Fertilizer Guide for the Tropics and Subtropics." Centre d'Etude de l'Azote, Zurich.
- de la F, J. N., Salgado-Garcia, S., Lagunes-Espinoza, L. C., Carrillo-Avila, E., and Palma-Lopez, D. J. (2006). Changes in the properties of a Mexican Fluvisol following 30 years of sugarcane cultivation. *Soil Tillage Res.* 88, 160–167.
- de Oliveira, A. L. M., Canuto, E. D., Urquiaga, S., Reis, V. M., and Baldani, J. I. (2006). Yield of micropropagated sugarcane varieties in different soil types following inoculation with diazotrophic bacteria. *Plant Soil* 284, 23–32.
- de Oliveira, M. W., Trivelin, P. C. O., Boaretto, A. E., Muraoka, T., and Mortatti, J. (2002). Leaching of nitrogen, potassium, calcium and magnesium in a sandy soil cultivated with sugarcane. *Pesq. Agropec. Bras.* **37**, 861–868.
- de Resende, A. S., Xavier, R. P., de Oliveira, O. C., Urquiaga, S., Alves, B. J. R., and Boddey, R. M. (2006). Long-term effects of pre-harvest burning and nitrogen and vinasse applications on yield of sugar cane and soil carbon and nitrogen stocks on a plantation in Pernambuco, NE Brazil. *Plant Soil* 281, 339–351.
- de Souza, Z. M., Prado, R. D., Paixao, A. C. S., and Cesarin, L. G. (2005). Harvest systems and residue management of sugarcane. *Pesquisa Agropecuaria Brasileira* **40**, 271–278
- Dent, D. L. (1986). "Acid Sulphate Soils: A Baseline for Research and Development." ILRI, Wageningen.
- Dent, D. L., and Pons, L. J. (1995). A world perspective on acid sulphate soils. *Geoderma* 67, 263–276.
- Dlamini, T. C., and Haynes, R. J. (2004). Influence of agricultural land use on the size and composition of earthworm communities in northern KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. *Appl. Soil Ecol.* 27, 77–88.
- Döbereiner, J. (1961). Nitrogen-fixing bacteria of the genus *Beijerinckia* Derx in the rhizosphere of sugar cane. *Plant Soil* 15, 211–216.
- Dominy, C. S., and Haynes, R. J. (2002). Influence of agricultural land management on organic matter content, microbial activity and aggregate stability in the profiles of two Oxisols. *Biol. Fertil. Soils* 36, 298–305.

- Dominy, C. S., Haynes, R. J., and van Antwerpen, R. (2002). Loss of soil organic matter and related soil properties under long-term sugarcane production on two contrasting soils. *Biol. Fertil. Soils* 36, 350–356.
- Dynia, J. F. (2000). Nitrate retention and leaching in variable charge soils of a watershed in Sao Paulo State, Brazil. Commun. Soil Sci. Plant Anal. 31, 777–791.
- Edis, R. B., Bramley, R. G. V., White, R. E., and Wood, A. W. (2002). Desorption of phosphate from sugarcane soils into simulated natural waters. *Mar. Freshwater Res.* 53, 961–970.
- El Wali, A. M. O., and Gascho, G. K. (1984). Soil testing, foliar analysis, and DRIS as guides for sugarcane fertilization. Agron. J. 76, 466–470.
- El Wali, A. M. O., Le Grand, F., and Gascho, G. J. (1980). Nitrogen leaching from soil and uptake by sugarcane from various urea-based fertilizers. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 44, 119–122.
- Everingham, Y., Lowe, K. H., Donald, D., Coomans, D., and Markley, J. (2007). Advanced satellite imagery to classify sugarcane crop characteristics. *Agron. Sustainable Dev.* 27, 111–117.
- Faerge, J., and Magid, J. (2004). Evaluating NUTMON nutrient balancing in Sub-Sahara Africa. Nutr. Cycl. Agroecosyst. 69, 101–110.
- FAO. (2004). "Fertilizer use by Crop in Brazil." Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome.
- FAO. (2006). "Introducing the International Bioenergy Platform (IBEP)." Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome.
- Fischer, G., and Heilig, G. K. (1997). Population momentum and the demand on land and water resources. *In* "Land Resources: On the Edge of the Malthusian Precipice?" (D. J. Greenland, P. J. Gregory, and P. H. Nye, Eds.), Vol. 352, pp. 869–889. The Royal Society, London.
- Fragoso, C., Brown, G. G., Patron, J. C., Blanchart, E., Lavelle, P., Pashanasi, B., Senapati, B., and Kumar, T. (1997). Agricultural intensification, soil biodiversity and agroecosystem function in the tropics—the role of earthworms. *Appl. Soil Ecol.* 6, 17–35.
- Freney, J. R., Denmead, O. T., Wood, A. W., Saffigna, P. G., Chapman, L. S., Ham, G. J., Hurney, A. P., and Stewart, R. L. (1992). Factors controlling ammonia loss from trash covered sugarcane fields fertilized with urea. *Fertil. Res.* 31, 341–349.
- Galvao, L. S., Formaggio, A. R., and Tisot, D. A. (2005). Discrimination of sugarcane varieties in southeastern Brazil with EO-1 hyperion data. *Remote Sens. Environ.* 94, 523–534.
- Garside, A. L., Bramley, R. G. V., Bristow, K. L., Holt, J. A., Magarey, R. G., Nable, R. O., Pankhurst, C. E., and Skjemstad, J. O. (1997). Comparisons between paired old and new land sites for sugarcane growth and yield and soil chemical, physical, and biological properties. *In* "Proceedings of Australian Society of Sugarcane Technologists," 60–66.
- Gava, G. J. C., Trivelin, P. C. O., Vitti, A. C., and Oliveira, M. W. (2003). Recovery of nitrogen (N-15) from urea and cane trash by sugar cane ratoon (*Saccharum* spp.). *Rev. Bras. Cienc. Solo* **27**, 621–630.
- Georges, J. E. W., Mohamed, M. S., and Harvey, W. O. (1985). Effects on soil water content and compactive effort on soil compaction and sugar cane regrowth. In "Proceedings West Indies Sugar Technologies", pp. 635–653.
- Gourley, C., and Ridley, A. (2005). Controlling non-point source pollution in Australian agricultural systems. *Pedosphere* 15, 768–777.
- Graham, M. H., and Haynes, R. J. (2005). Organic matter accumulation and fertilizerinduced acidification interact to affect soil microbial and enzyme activity on a long-term sugarcane management experiment. *Biol. Fertil. Soils* **41**, 249–256.
- Graham, M. H., and Haynes, R. J. (2006). Organic matter status and the size, activity and metabolic diversity of the soil microbial community in the row and inter-row of sugarcane under burning and trash retention. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 38, 21–31.

- Graham, M. H., Haynes, R. J., and Meyer, J. H. (2002a). Changes in soil chemistry and aggregate stability induced by fertilizer applications, burning and trash retention on a long-term sugarcane experiment in South Africa. *Eur. J. Soil Sci.* 53, 589–598.
- Graham, M. H., Haynes, R. J., and Meyer, J. H. (2002b). Soil organic matter content and quality: Effects of fertilizer applications, burning and trash retention on a long-term sugarcane experiment in South Africa. Soil Biol. Biochem. 34, 93–102.
- Gunkel, G., Kosmol, J., Sobral, M., Rohn, H., Montenegro, S., and Aureliano, J. (2007). Sugar cane industry as a source of water pollution: Case study on the situation in Ipojuca river, Pernambuco, Brazil. *Water Air Soil Pollut.* **180**, 261–269.
- Hartemink, A. E. (1997). Input and output of major nutrients under monocropping sisal in Tanzania. Land Degrad. Dev. 8, 305–310.
- Hartemink, A. E. (1998a). Acidification and pH buffering capacity of alluvial soils under sugarcane. Exp. Agric. 34, 231–243.
- Hartemink, A. E. (1998b). Changes in soil fertility and leaf nutrient concentration at a sugar cane plantation in Papua New Guinea. *Commun. Soil Sci. Plant Anal.* 29, 1045–1060.
- Hartemink, A. E. (1998c). Soil Chemical and Physical Properties as Indicators of Sustainable Land Management under Sugar Cane in Papua New Guinea. *Geoderma* 85, 283–306.
- Hartemink, A. E. (2002). Soil science in tropical and temperate regions: Some differences and similarities. Adv. Agron. 77, 269–292.
- Hartemink, A. E. (2003). "Soil Fertility Decline in the Tropics—with Case Studies on Plantations." ISRIC-CABI Publishing, Wallingford.
- Hartemink, A. E. (2005a). Nutrient stocks, nutrient cycling, and soil changes in cocoa ecosystems: A review. Adv. Agron. 86, 227–253.
- Hartemink, A. E. (2005b). Plantation agriculture in the tropics: Environmental issues. *Outlook Agric.* **34**, 11–21.
- Hartemink, A. E. (2006). Assessing soil fertility decline in the tropics using soil chemical data. Adv. Agron. 89, 179–225.
- Hartemink, A. E., and Kuniata, L. S. (1996). Some factors influencing yield trends of sugarcane in Papua New Guinea. Outlook Agric. 25, 227–234.
- Haynes, R. J., Dominy, C. S., and Graham, M. H. (2003). Effect of agricultural land use on soil organic matter status and the composition of earthworm communities in KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* **95**, 453–464.
- Henry, P. C., and Ellis, R. D. (1995). Soil as a factor in sugarcane ratoon yield decline on an irrigated estate in Swaziland. *Proc. Int. Soc. Sugarcane Technol.* 236–245.
- Hetherington, S. J. C., Asher, C. J., and Blamey, F. P. C. (1988). Comparative tolerance of sugarcane, navybean, soybean and maize to aluminum toxicity. *Aust. J. Agric. Res.* 38, 171–176.
- Hill, J., Nelson, E., Tilman, D., Polasky, S., and Tiffany, D. (2006). Environmental, economic, and energetic costs and benefits of biodiesel and ethanol biofuels. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **103**, 11206–11210.
- Hilton, H. W., and Yuen, Q. H. (1966). Herbicide adsorption studies: Adsorption and leaching of herbicides in Hawaiian sugarcane soils. J. Agric. Food Chem. 14, 86–90.
- Holt, J. A., and Mayer, R. J. (1998). Changes in microbial biomass and protease activities of soil associated with long-term sugar cane monoculture. *Biol. Fertil. Soils* 27, 127–131.
- Hossain, M. Z. (2001). Farmer's view on soil organic matter depletion and its management in Bangladesh. *Nutr. Cycl. Agroecosyst.* **61**, 197–204.
- Humbert, R. P. (1959). Soil as a factor in varietal yield decline. Proceedings International Society of Sugarcane Technologists, **10**, 51–62.
- Javaroni, R. D. A., Landgraf, M. D., and Rezende, M. O. O. (1999). Behavior of the herbicides atrazine and alachlor after application on soils prepared to sugar cane plantation. *Quim. Nova* 22, 58–64.

- Johnson, A. K. L., McDonald, G. T., Shrubsole, D. A., and Walker, D. H. (1997). Sharing the land—the sugar industry as part of the wider landscape. *In* "Intensive Sugarcane Production: Meeting the Challenges Beyond 2000" (B. A. Keating and J. R. Wilson, Eds.), pp. 361–380. CAB International, Wallingford.
- Johnson, R. M., and Richard, E. P. (2005a). Sugarcane yield, sugarcane quality, and soil variability in Louisiana. Agron. J. 97, 760–771.
- Johnson, R. M., and Richard, E. P. (2005b). Utilisation of yield mapping and variable-rate lime application in Louisiana sugarcane. Proc. Int. Soc. Sugarcane Technol. 25, 351–355.
- Johnson, R. M., Grisham, M. P., and Richard, E. P. (2007a). Relationship between sugarcane rust severity and soil properties in Louisiana. *Phytopathology* 97, 748–755.
- Johnson, R. M., Viator, R. P., Grisham, M. P., Richard, E. P., and Boopathy, R. (2007b). Microbial degradation of post-harvest residues. *Proc. Int. Soc. Sugarcane Technol.* 26, 365–372.
- Joshi, S., and Viraktamath, C. A. (2004). The sugarcane woolly aphid, Ceratovacuna lanigera Zehntner (Hemiptera: Aphididae): Its biology, pest status and control. Curr. Sci. 87, 307–316.
- Juang, T. C., and Uehara, G. (1971). Effects of ground-water table and soil compaction on nutrient element uptake and growth of sugarcane. *Proc. Int. Soc. Sugarcane Technol.* 14, 679–687.
- Kelly, R. M., Edwards, D. G., Thompson, J. P., and Magarey, R. C. (2005). Growth responses of sugarcane to mycorrhizal spore density and phosphorus rate. *Aust. J. Agric. Res.* 56, 1405–1413.
- King, N. J., Mungomery, R. W., and Hughes, C. G. (1953). "Manual of Cane Growing. Australian Agricultural and Livestock Series." Angus and Robertson, Sydney.
- Kingston, G., Hurney, A. P., and Aitken, R. L. (1996). Depression of CCS in sugarcane after use of liming products: Economic significance and associations with soil chemistry and leaf nutrient composition. *Proc. Aust. Soc. Sugar Cane Technol.* 164–173.
- Kinsela, A. S., and Melville, M. D. (2004). Mechanisms of acid sulfate soil oxidation and leaching under sugarcane cropping. Aust. J. Soil Res. 42, 569–578.
- Kirkham, M. B. (2006). Cadmium in plants on polluted soils: Effects of soil factors, hyperaccumulation, and amendments. *Geoderma* 137, 19–32.
- Kornecki, T. S., Grigg, B. C., Fouss, J. L., and Southwick, L. M. (2005). Polyacrylamide (PAM) application effectiveness in reducing soil erosion from sugarcane fields in southern Louisiana. *Appl. Eng. Agric.* 21, 189–196.
- Kornecki, T. S., Grigg, B. C., Fouss, J. L., and Southwick, L. M. (2006). Effectiveness of post-harvest sugarcane residue and polyacrylamide on reducing soil deposition in quarter-drains. *Appl. Eng. Agric.* 22, 857–865.
- Lanchote, V., Bonato, P. S., Cerdeira, A. L., Santos, N. A. G., de Carvallho, D., and Gomes, M. A. (2000). HPLC screening and GC-MS confirmation of triazine herbicides residues in drinking water from sugar cane area in Brazil. *Water Air Soil Pollut.* 118, 329–337.
- Lawes, R. A., Wegener, M. K., Basford, K. E., and Lawn, R. J. (2000). Commercial cane sugar trends in the Tully sugar district. Aust. J. Exp. Agric. 40, 969–973.
- Lima, E., Boddey, R. M., and Döbereiner, J. (1987). Quantification of biological nitrogen fixation associated with sugar cane using a ¹⁵N aided nitrogen balance. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* **19**, 165–170.
- Lindau, C. W., Delaune, R. D., and Alford, D. P. (1997). Monitoring nitrogen pollution from sugarcane runoff using ¹⁵N analysis. *Water Air Soil Pollut.* 89, 389–399.
- Lisson, S. N., Inman-Bamber, N. G., Robertson, M. J., and Keating, B. A. (2005). The historical and future contribution of crop physiology and modelling research to sugarcane production systems. *Field Crop. Res.* 92, 321–335.

- Lu, H., Prosser, I. P., Moran, C. J., Gallant, J. C., Priestley, G., and Stevenson, J. G. (2003). Predicting sheetwash and rill erosion over the Australian continent. *Aust. J. Soil Res.* 41, 1037–1062.
- Macedo, I. D. (1998). Greenhouse gas emissions and energy balances in bio-ethanol production and utilization in Brazil (1996). *Biomass Bioenergy* 14, 77–81.
- Maclean, N. R. (1975). Long-term effects of sugar cane production on some physical and chemical properties of soils in the Goondi mill area. *Proc. Queensland Soc. Sugarcane Technol.* 42, 123–126.
- Magalhaes, P. S. G., and Cerri, D. G. P. (2007). Yield monitoring of sugar cane. *Biosyst. Eng.* 96, 1–6.
- Magarey, R. C., Bull, J. I., Blair, B. L., and Johnson, E. J. (1997). Biological studies of soils in paired old and new land sites growing sugarcane. *Aust. J. Exp. Agric.* 37, 451–457.
- Malavolta, E. (1994). "Fertilizing for High Yield Sugarcane." International Potash Institute, Basel.
- Masilaca, A. S., Prasad, R. A., and Morrison, R. J. (1985). The impact of sugarcane cultivation on three Oxisols from Vanua Levu, Fiji. *Trop. Agric.* 63, 325–330.
- McGarry, D., Bigwood, R. C., Pillay-McGarry, U. P., Bray, S. G., and Moody, P. W. (1996a). Is cane damaging the soil? A comparison of a ten-year old block with the adjoining treeline. *In* "Proceedings of the 1996 Conference of the Australian Society of Sugarcane Technologists" (B. T. Egan, Ed.), pp. 189–194, Mackay.
- McGarry, D., Pillai-McGarry, U. P., Bray, S. G., Bigwood, R. C., and Moody, P. W. (1996b). The effect of 10 years of sugar production on soil physical and chemical properties of a Gleyed Podzolic soil, Bundaberg, Queensland. *In* "Australian and New Zealand National Soils Conference." Vol. 3, pp. 163–164. ASSSI, Melbourne.
- McGarry, D., Braunack, M. V., Cunningham, G., Halpin, N., Sallaway, M., and Waters, D. (1997). Comparison of soil physical properties of row and inter-row: A basis for control traffic in cane. In "Proceedings of the 1997 Conference of the Australian Society of Sugar Cane Technologists" (B. T. Egan, Ed.), pp. 263–269, Cairns.
- McMartin, D. W., Headley, J. V., Wood, B. P., and Gillies, J. A. (2003). Photolysis of atrazine and ametryne herbicides in Barbados sugar cane plantation soils and water. J. Environ. Sci. Health Part B-Pesticides Food Contaminants and Agricultural Wastes 38, 293–303.
- Medeiros, A. F. A., Polidoro, J. C., and Reis, V. M. (2006). Nitrogen source effect on Gluconacetobacter *diazotrophicus* colonization of sugarcane (*Saccharum* spp.). *Plant Soil* 279, 141–152.
- Meier, E. A., Thorburn, P. J., Wegener, M. K., and Basford, K. E. (2006). The availability of nitrogen from sugarcane trash on contrasting soils in the wet tropics of North Queensland. *Nutr. Cycl. Agroecosyst.* 75, 101–114.
- Mills, A. J., and Fey, M. V. (2003). Declining soil quality in South Africa: effects of land use on soil organic matter and surface crusting. S. Afr. J. Sci. 99, 429–436.
- Moody, P. W., and Aitken, R. L. (1995). Soil acidification and lime use in some agricultural systems in Queensland, Australia. *In* "Plant Soil Interactions at Low pH" (R. A. Date, R. J. Grundon, G. E. Rayment, and M. E. Probert, Eds.), pp. 749–752. Kluwer Academic, Dordrecht.
- Moody, P. W., and Aitken, R. L. (1997). Soil Acidification under Some Tropical Agricultural Systems .1. Rates of Acidification and Contributing Factors. *Australian Journal of Soil Research* 35, 163–173.
- Muchovej, R. M. C., Luo, Y., Shine, J. M., and Jones, J. C. (2000). Nutritional problems associated with low yields of sugarcane on mineral soils. *Soil Crop Soc. Fla Proc.* **59**, 146–150.
- Mulkins, L. (2000). From sugarcane monoculture to agro-ecological village. ILEIA Newsletter 16, 22–23.

- Ng Kee Kwong, K. F., and Deville, J. (1984). Nitrogen leaching from soils cropped with sugarcane under the humid tropical climate of Mauritius, Indian Ocean. *J. Environ. Qual.* **13**, 471–474.
- Ng Kee Kwong, K. F., and Deville, J. (1987). Residual fertilizer nitrogen as influenced by timing and nitrogen forms in a silty clay soil under sugarcane in Mauritius. *Fertil. Res.* **14**, 219–226.
- Ng Kee Kwong, K. F., and Deville, J. (1988). Filter cake as a nitrogen fertilizer for plant cane in Mauritius. *Trop. Agric.* **65**, 364–366.
- Ng Kee Kwong, K. F., and Deville, J. (1994). The course of fertilizer nitrogen uptake by rainfed sugarcane in Mauritius. J. Agric. Sci. **122**, 385–391.
- Ng Kee Kwong, K. F., Paul, J. P., and Deville, J. (1999). Drip-fertigation: A means for reducing fertilizer nitrogen to sugarcane. *Exp. Agric.* **35**, 31–37.
- Ning, S. K., Chang, N. B., Jeng, K. Y., and Tseng, Y. H. (2006). Soil erosion and non-point source pollution impacts assessment with the aid of multi-temporal remote sensing images. J. Environ. Manage. 79, 88–101.
- Nixon, D. J., and Simmonds, L. P. (2004). The impact of fallowing and green manuring on soil conditions and the growth of sugarcane. *Exp. Agric.* 40, 127–138.
- Noble, A. D., Moody, P., and Berthelsen, S. (2003). Influence of changed management of sugarcane on some soil chemical properties in the humid wet tropics of north Queensland. Aust. J. Soil Res. 41, 1133–1144.
- Nunes, D. H., Pasini, A., Benito, N. P., and Brown, G. G. (2006). Earthworm diversity in four land use systems in the region of Jaguapita, Parana State, Brazil. *Caribb. J. Sci.* 42, 331–338.
- Orlando Filho, J., Silva, L. F. C., and Rodella, A. A. (1991). Effects of filter cake applications on sugarcane yields in Brazil. Sugar J. 54, 22–24.
- Pankhurst, C. E., Blair, B. L., Magarey, R. C., Stirling, G. R., Bell, M. J., and Garside, A. L. (2005a). Effect of rotation breaks and organic matter amendments on the capacity of soils to develop biological suppression towards soil organisms associated with yield decline of sugarcane. *Appl. Soil Ecol.* 28, 271–282.
- Pankhurst, C. E., Stirling, G. R., Magarey, R. C., Blair, B. L., Holt, J. A., Bell, M. J., and Garside, A. L. (2005b). Quantification of the effects of rotation breaks on soil biological properties and their impact on yield decline in sugarcane. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 37, 1121–1130.
- Pastor, J., and Binkley, D. (1998). Nitrogen fixation and the mass balances of carbon and nitrogen in ecosystems. *Biogeochemistry* 43, 63–78.
- Patrick, W. H., Gambrell, R. P., Parkpian, P., and Tan, F. (1994). Mercury in soils and plants in the Florida Everglades sugarcane area. *In* "Mercury Pollution: Integration and Synthesis" (C. J. Watras and J. W. Huckabee, Eds.), pp. 609–614. Lewis Publishers.
- Pessoa, A., Roberto, I. C., Menossi, M., Dos Santos, R. R., Ortega, S., and Penna, T. C. V. (2005). Perspectives on bioenergy and biotechnology in Brazil. *Appl. Biochem. Biotechnol.* 121, 59–70.
- Pierce, F. J., and Nowak, P. (1999). Aspects of precision agriculture. Adv. Agron. 67, 1-85.
- Prasertsak, P., Freney, J. R., Denmead, O. T., Saffigna, P. G., Prove, B. G., and Reghenzani, J. R. (2002). Effect of fertilizer placement on nitrogen loss from sugarcane in tropical Queensland. *Nutr. Cycl. Agroecosyst.* 62, 229–239.
- Prove, B. G., Doogan, V. J., and Truong, P. N. V. (1995). Nature and magnitude of soil erosion in sugarcane land on the wet tropical coast of north-eastern Queensland. *Aust. J. Exp. Agric.* 35, 641–649.
- Putthacharoen, S., Howeler, R. H., Jantawat, S., and Vichukit, V. (1998). Nutrient uptake and soil erosion losses in cassava and six other crops in a Psamment in eastern Thailand. *Field Crop. Res.* 57, 113–126.
- Ralph, W. (1992). Restricting nitrogen loss in cane-fields. Rural Res. 157, 16-19.

- Rao, S. R., and Narasimham, R. L. (1988). Effect of soil compaction in sugarcane: Part IV. On stalk characters, cane yield and juice quality. *International Journal of Tropical Agriculture* 6, 237–240.
- Rasiah, V., Armour, J. D., Menzies, N. W., Heiner, D. H., Donn, M. J., and Mahendrarajah, S. (2003). Nitrate retention under sugarcane in wet tropical Queensland deep soil profiles. *Aust. J. Soil Res.* **41**, 1145–1161.
- Rayment, G. E., and Bloesch, P. M. (2006). Phosphorus fertility assessment of intensively farmed areas of catchments draining to the Great Barrier Reef world heritage area. 1: Soil phosphorus status. *Commun. Soil Sci. Plant Anal.* 37, 2249–2264.
- Razafimbelo, T., Barthes, B., Larre-Larrouy, M. C., De Luca, E. F., Laurent, J. Y., Cerri, C. C., and Feller, C. (2006). Effect of sugarcane residue management (mulching versus burning) on organic matter in a clayey Oxisol from southern Brazil. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* **115**, 285–289.
- Reay-Jones, F. P. F., Showler, A. T., Reagan, T. E., Legendre, B. L., Way, M. O., and Moser, E. B. (2005). Integrated tactics for managing the Mexican rice borer (*Lepidoptera: Crambidae*) in sugarcane. *Environ. Entomol.* 34, 1558–1565.
- Reis, R. D., and Monnerat, P. H. (2002). Sugarcane nutritional diagnosis with DRIS norms established in Brazil, South Africa, and the United States. J. Plant Nutr. 25, 2831–2851.
- Rice, R. W., Izuno, F. T., and Garcia, R. M. (2002). Phosphorus load reductions under best management practices for sugarcane cropping systems in the Everglades Agricultural Area. Agric. Water Manage. 56, 17–39.
- Rietz, D. N., and Haynes, R. J. (2003). Effects of irrigation-induced salinity and sodicity on soil microbial activity. Soil Biol. Biochem. 35, 845–854.
- Robert, P. C. (2002). Precision agriculture: A challenge for crop nutrition management. *Plant Soil* 247, 143–149.
- Robertson, F. A., and Thorburn, P. J. (2007a). Decomposition of sugarcane harvest residue in different climatic zones. Aust. J. Soil Res. 45, 1–11.
- Robertson, F. A., and Thorburn, P. J. (2007b). Management of sugarcane harvest residues: Consequences for soil carbon and nitrogen. Aust. J. Soil Res. 45, 13–23.
- Robertson, G. P. (1982). Regional nitrogen budgets: Approaches and problems. *Plant Soil* 67, 73–79.
- Robertson, L. N., Allsopp, P. G., Chandler, K. J., and Mullins, R. T. (1995). Integrated management of canegrubs in Australia: Current situation and future-research directions. *Aust. J. Agric. Res.* 46, 1–16.
- Robichaud, P. R., and Hungerford, R. D. (2000). Water repellency by laboratory burning of four northern Rocky Mountain forest soils. J. Hydrol. 231, 207–219.
- Rodriguez-Barrueco, C., (Ed.) (1996). In "Fertilizers and Environment" Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht.
- Rosabal, A., Morillo, E., Undabeytia, T., Maqueda, C., Justo, A., and Herencia, J. F. (2007). Long-term impacts of wastewater irrigation on Cuban soils. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 71, 1292–1298.
- Ruschel, A. P., Tamas, F. R., Ahmad, N., Mendoza-Palacios, H. H., and Valdivia-Liga, S. (1982). Report of the work group on sugarcane. *Plant and Soil* 67, 395–397.
- Ruschel, A. P., and Vose, P. B. (1982). Nitrogen cycling in sugarcane. *Plant Soil* 67, 139–146.
- Sanchez, P. A. (2002). Soil fertility and hunger in Africa. Science 295, 2019-2020.
- Sanchez, P. A., Palm, C. A., Davey, C. B., Szott, L. T., and Russel, C. E. (1985). Tree crops as soil improvers in the humid tropics. *In* "Attributes of Trees as Crop Plants" (M. G. R. Cannell and J. E. Jackson, Eds.), pp. 79–124. Institute of Terrestrial Ecology, Huntingdon.
- Schroeder, B. L., Robinson, J. B., Wallace, M., and Turner, P. E. T. (1994). Soil acidification: Occurrence and effects in the South African sugar industry. Proc. S. Afr. Sugar Technol. Assoc. 70–74.

Schrope, M. (2001). Save our swamp. Nature 409, 128-130.

- Sheldrick, W. F., Syers, J. K., and Lingard, J. (2003). Soil nutrient audits for China to estimate nutrient balances and output/input relationships. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* 94, 341–354.
- Silva, A. J. N., Ribeiro, M. R., Carvalho, F. G., Silva, V. N., and Silva, L. E. S. F. (2007). Impact of sugarcane cultivation on soil carbon fractions, consistence limits and aggregate stability of a Yellow Latosol in Northeast Brazil. *Soil Tillage Res.* 94, 420–424.
- Singh, K. P., Suman, A., Singh, P. N., and Lal, M. (2007). Yield and soil nutrient balance of a sugarcane plant-ratoon system with conventional and organic nutrient management in sub-tropical India. *Nutr. Cycl. Agroecosyst.* **79**, 209–219.
- Sitompul, S. M., Hairiah, K., Cadisch, G., and van Noordwijk, M. (2000). Dynamics of density fractions of macro-organic matter after forest conversion to sugarcane and woodlots, accounted for in a modified Century model. *Neth. J. Agric. Sci.* 48, 61–73.
- Skjemstad, J. O., Taylor, J. A., Janik, L. J., and Marvanek, S. P. (1999). Soil organic carbon dynamics under long-term sugarcane monoculture. *Aust. J. Soil Res.* 37, 151–164.
- Smeets, E. M. W., Faaij, A. P. C., Lewandowski, I. M., and Turkenburg, W. C. (2007). A bottom-up assessment and review of global bio-energy potentials to 2050. *Prog. Energy Combust. Sci.* 33, 56–106.
- Smith, D. M., Inman-Bamber, N. G., and Thorburn, P. J. (2005). Growth and function of the sugarcane root system. *Field Crops Res.* 92, 169–183.
- Southwick, L. M., Willis, G. H., and Salim, H. M. (1992). Leaching of Atrazine from sugarcane in Southern Louisiana. J. Agric. Food Chem. 40, 1264–1268.
- Southwick, L. M., Willis, G. H., Johnson, D. C., and Selim, H. M. (1995). Leaching of nitrate, atrazine and metribuzin from sugarcane in southern Louisiana. *J. Environ. Qual.* 24, 684–690.
- Southwick, L. M., Grigg, B. C., Kornecki, T. S., and Fouss, J. L. (2002). Potential influence of sugarcane cultivation on estuarine water quality of Louisiana's gulf coast. J. Agric. Food Chem. 50, 4393–4399.
- Souza, Z. M., Marques-Junior, J., and Pereira, G. T. (2004). Spatial variability of physical attributes of the soil in different landscape forms under sugarcane. *Rev. Bras. Cienc. Solo* 28, 937–944.
- Sparovek, G., and Schnug, E. (2001a). Soil tillage and precision agriculture: A theoretical case study for soil erosion control in Brazilian sugar cane production. *Soil Tillage Res.* 61, 47–54.
- Sparovek, G., and Schnug, E. (2001b). Temporal erosion-induced soil degradation and yield loss. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 65, 1479–1486.
- Sparovek, G., Bacchi, O. O. S., Schnug, E., Ranieri, S. B. L., and De Maria, I. C. (2000). Comparison of three water erosion prediction methods (Cs-137, WEPP, USLE) in south-east Brazilian sugarcane production. *Tropenlandwirt* 101, 107–118.
- Sparovek, G., Anisimova, M. A., Kolb, M., Bahadir, M., Wehage, H., and Schnug, E. (2001). Organochlorine compounds in a Brazilian watershed with sugarcane and intense sediment redistribution. *J. Environ. Qual.* **30**, 2006–2010.
- Srivastava, A. C. (2003). Energy savings through reduced tillage and trash mulching in sugarcane production. Appl. Eng. Agric. 19, 13–18.
- Srivastava, A. K. (1984). Soil compaction: A problem in sugarcane culture. Indian Sugar 34, 503–504.
- Srivastava, S. C. (1992). Sugarcane. In "IFA World Fertilizer use Manual" (D. J. Halliday and M. E. Trenkel, Eds.), pp. 257–266. International Fertilizer Industry Association, Paris.
- Stamford, N. P., Lima, R. A., Santos, C. R. S., and Dias, S. H. L. (2006). Rock biofertilizers with Acidithiobacillus on sugarcane yield and nutrient uptake in a Brazilian soil. *Geomicrobiol. J.* 23, 261–265.

- Stewart, L. K., Charlesworth, P. B., Bristow, K. L., and Thorburn, P. J. (2006). Estimating deep drainage and nitrate leaching from the root zone under sugarcane using APSIM-SWIM. Agric. Water Manag. 81, 315–334.
- Sthiannopkao, S., Takizawa, S., and Wirojanagud, W. (2006). Effects of soil erosion on water quality and water uses in the upper Phong watershed. *Water Sci. Technol.* 53, 45–52.
- Suman, A., Lal, M. H., Singh, A. K., and Gaur, A. (2006). Microbial biomass turnover in Indian subtropical soils under different sugarcane intercropping systems. *Agron. J.* 98, 698–704.
- Sumner, M. E. (1997). Opportunities for amelioration of soil physical and chemical constraints under intensive cropping. *In* "Intensive Sugarcane Production: Meeting the Challenges Beyond 2000" (B. A. Keating and J. R. Wilson, Eds.), pp. 305–326. CAB International, Wallingford.
- Sumner, M. E., and Beaufils, E. R. (1975). Diagnosis of the NPK requirements of sugarcane irrespective of plant age and season using Beaufils system (DRIS)—preliminary observations. Proc. S. Afr. Sugar Technol. Assoc. 13–141.
- Sundara, B., and Subramanian, S. (1990). Changes in soil available NPK in multiple cropping systems based on short duration sugarcane crops relative to a conventional sugarcane cropping system. *Fertil. Res.* 24, 67–76.
- Sutton, M. R., Wood, A. W., and Saffigna, P. G. (1996). Long term effects of green cane trash retention on Herbert river soils. *In* "Sugarcane: Research Towards Efficient and Sustainable Production" (J. R. Wilson, D. M. Hogarth, J. A. Campbell, and A. L. Garside, Eds.), pp. 178–180. CSIRO Division of Tropical Crops and Pastures, Brisbane.
- Swaminathan, M. S. (2006). An evergreen revolution. Crop Sci. 46, 2293-2303.
- Swinford, J. M., and Boevey, T. M. C. (1984). The effects of soil compaction due to infield transport on ratoon cane yields and soil physical characteristics. "Proceedings of the South African Sugar Technologists Association", pp. 198–203.
- Tan, K. H. (1996). "Soil Sampling, Preparation, and Analysis." Marcel Dekker, New York.
- Thorburn, P. J., Meier, E. A., and Probert, M. E. (2005). Modelling, nitrogen dynamics in sugarcane systems: Recent advances and applications. *Field Crop. Res.* 92, 337–351.
- Timm, L. C., Reichardt, K., Oliveira, J. C. M., Cassaro, F. A. M., Tominaga, T. T., Bacchi, O. O. S., and Dourado-Neto, D. (2003). Sugarcane production evaluated by the state-space approach. *J. Hydrol.* **272**, 226–237.
- Tominaga, T. T., Cassaro, F. A. M., Bacchi, O. O. S., Reichardt, K., Oliveira, J. C. M., and Timm, L. C. (2002). Variability of soil water content and bulk density in a sugarcane field. *Aust. J. Soil Res.* 40, 605–614.
- Trouse, A. C., and Humbert, R. P. (1961). Some effects of soil compaction on the development of sugar cane roots. Soil Science 91, 208–217.
- Turner, P. E. T., Meyer, J. H., and Wood, R. A. (1992). Some results of field experiments to test lime and phosphogypsum for aluminium amelioration. *Proc. S. Afr. Sugar Technol. Assoc.* 44–49.
- UNEP. (2007). "Global Environmental Outlook GEO4." United Nations Environment Programme, Nairobi.
- Urquiaga, S., Cruz, K. H. S., and Boddey, R. M. (1992). Contribution of nitrogen fixation to sugar cane: Nitrogen-15 and nitrogen balance estimates. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 56, 105–114.
- Valdes, C. (2007). Ethanol demand driving the expansion of Brazil's sugar industry. Sugar Sweeteners Outlook, 31–38.
- Valdivia, S. (1982). Nitrogen gains and losses in sugarcane (Saccharum sp.) agro-ecosystems on the coast of Peru. Plant Soil 67, 147–156.
- Vallis, I., Catchpoole, V. R., Hughes, R. M., Myers, R. J. K., Ridge, D. R., and Weier, K. L. (1996). Recovery in plants and soils to ¹⁵N applied as surface bands of urea to sugarcane. *Aust. J. Agric. Res.* **47**, 355–370.

- van Noordwijk, M., Cerri, C., Woomer, P. L., Nugroho, K., and Bernoux, M. (1997). Soil carbon dynamics in the humid tropical forest zone. *Geoderma* **79**, 187–225.
- Vera, G. S., Olan, J. J. O., Palma-Lopez, D. J., and Garcia, S. S. (2003). Apparent density in a vertisol with different agrosystems (in Spanish). *Interciencia* 28, 347–351.
- Viator, R. P., Johnson, R. M., and Richard, E. P. (2005). Challenges of post-harvest residue management in the Louisiana sugarcane industry. *Proc. Int. Soc. Sugarcane Technol.* 25, 238–244.
- Viator, R. P., Johnson, R. M., Grimm, C. C., and Richard, E. P. (2006). Allelopathic, autotoxic, and hormetic effects of postharvest sugarcane residue. *Agron. J.* 98, 1526–1531.
- Vitorello, V. A., Cerri, C. C., Andreux, F., Feller, C., and Victoria, R. L. (1989). Organic matter and natural carbon-13 distribution in forested and cultivated Oxisols. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 53, 773–778.
- Wei-Ping, K., Saffigna, P. G., Wood, A. W., and Freney, J. R. (1993). Evaluation of methods for control of ammonia volatilization from surface-applied nitrogen fertilizers to sugarcane trash in North Queensland. *Pedosphere* 3, 321–330.
- Weier, K. L. (1994). Nitrogen use and losses in agriculture in subtropical Australia. Fertil. Res. 39, 245–257.
- Weier, K. L. (1998). Sugarcane fields: Sources or sinks for greenhouse gas emissions? Aust. J. Agric. Res. 49, 1–9.
- Weier, K. L., McEwan, C. W., Vallis, I., Catchpoole, V. R., and Myers, R. J. K. (1996). Potential for biological denitrification of fertilizer nitrogen in sugarcane soils. *Aust. J. Agric. Res.* 47, 67–79.
- Wolf, J., Bindraban, P. S., Luijten, J. C., and Vleeshouwers, L. M. (2003). Exploratory study on the land area required for global food supply and the potential global production of bioenergy. *Agric. Syst.* **76**, 841–861.
- Wood, A. W. (1985). Soil degradation and management under intensive sugarcane cultivation in North Queensland. Soil Use Manage. 1, 120–124.
- Wood, A. W. (1991). Management of crop residues following green harvesting of sugarcane in north Queensland. Soil Tillage Res. 20, 69–85.
- Wood, A. W., Muchow, R. C., and Robertson, M. J. (1996). Growth of sugarcane under high input conditions in tropical Australia. 3. Accumulation, partitioning and use of nitrogen. *Field Crop. Res.* 48, 223–233.
- Wood, A. W., Bramley, R. G. V., Meyer, J. H., and Johnson, A. K. L. (1997). Opportunities for improving nutrient management in the Australian sugar industry. *In* "Intensive Sugarcane Production: Meeting the Challenges Beyond 2000" (B. A. Keating and J. R. Wilson, Eds.), pp. 243–266. CAB International, Wallingford.
- Woomer, P. L., Martin, A., Albrecht, A., Resck, D. V. S., and Scharpenseel, H. W. (1994). The importance and management of soil organic matter in the tropics. *In* "The Biological Management of Tropical soil Fertility" (P. L. Woomer and M. J. Swift, Eds.), pp. 47–80. John Wiley & Sons, Chichester.
- Yadav, R. L., and Prasad, S. R. (1997). Maximizing sugarcane yield by increasing plant population density, minimizing NO3-N leaching and improving soil organic matter in different crop rotations. J. Agron. Crop Sci. 178, 117–123.
- Yadav, R. L., and Singh, K. (1986). Long term experiments with sugarcane and intensive cropping systems and variation in soil fertility. *Indian Journal of Agronomy* 31, 322–325.
- Yates, R. A. (1978). The environment for sugarcane. "Land Evaluation for Standards for Rainfed Agriculture, World Soil Resources Report no 49", pp. 58–72. FAO, Rome.
- Young, A. (1999). Is there really spare land? A critique of estimates of available cultivable land in developing countries. *Environ. Dev. Sustainability* **1**, 3–18.
- Zou, X., and Bashkin, M. (1998). Soil carbon accretion and earthworm recovery following revegetation in abandoned sugarcane fields. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* **30**, 825–830.